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Note for site visitors

The hours of operation and fees shown in this guide were current as the book went to press. However, since hours and fees are subject to change, visitors may prefer to call ahead to verify the information. School and other groups should also call to make arrangements as to fees and availability of guides.


INTRODUCTION

Since the first settlement by Europeans in the sixteenth century, different peoples have moved to Florida in search of a better life. Symbolized in the origin myth of Ponce de León and his fountain of youth, settlers have flocked to Florida. Many, however, came knowing that the pursuit of happiness did not derive from a magic elixir or some mysterious spring water. Instead, early settlers knew that hard labor could lead to the founding of plantations, businesses, farms, ranches, fisheries, transport lines, and new industries that would provide the path to fortune. Before the influx of tourists drawn first by the climate, later by roadside attractions, and then by Disney World, Busch Gardens, Sea World and the like, generations of pioneers struggled to build a new life in the hammocks, forests, and hills and along the coasts of central and northern Florida.

Of course, many failed, but in their pursuit of fortune, and in their sometimes difficult efforts to survive, they left their mark on the landscape. Their patterns of work and daily life are revealed through tools, artifacts, and structures in far more vivid fashion than any written documents can convey.

Scattered across Florida are the physical traces they left behind, some carefully preserved in humble homes, pioneer villages, and local museums. Many of the structures that are unpreserved in such sites are slowly sinking under the tide of Florida’s lush vegetation, here and there discovered and recovered by archaeologists, architectural historians, and private homeowners.

In the modern world of jet travel and interstate highways, the preserved and reconstructed pioneer villages, homes, farms, and workplaces catalogued in this work provide a remarkable contrast, both for the long-time resident and the visitor. In recent decades, historians have increasingly turned to these elements of “material culture” as valuable three-dimensional documents of the past. For casual visitors and history buffs alike, the places we discuss here carry many messages.

Among the pioneer settlers who came to Florida in search of fortune in the eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth centuries were the hardy overland settlers from Georgia, disparagingly called “Crackers” by British Governor James Grant in 1764. In later years, the descendants of those and later pioneers took pride in their heritage, so that today, Cracker culture is celebrated and honored, officially and unofficially, throughout Florida.

The term “cracker” has at least four possible origins. As used by Governor Grant as a term of contempt, the word probably derived from an old English expression that referred to country folk as “cracking wise,” or cracking jokes. In later generations, country people relied on barreled crackers as a main food. Large 4 x 4-inch soda crackers, much like modern saltines, were a staple of troops on both sides during the Civil War. Slaves may have used the term “cracker” to refer to overseers and others who cracked whips when punishing or abusing them. The term may have acquired a racial overtone from this usage.

Still another story about the term “cracker” derives from Florida’s cattle heritage. The Crackers at first eked out a living through hunting and gathering, leaving behind a heritage of recipes that included swamp cabbage, alligator tail, crawfish, bear steak, and other delicacies. Some sought income from lumbering, sawmills, sugar planting and processing, turpentine works, catching wild cattle, and later, cattle ranching. Some visitors who associate cattle culture with vast rangelands of Texas and Wyoming are surprised to learn that Florida had a thriving cow culture well into the twentieth and twenty-first centuries. As the state was settled more extensively after the Civil War, enterprising farmers achieved success in dairy and truck farming, citrus groves, and a surprising variety of other crops and enterprises. To bring the settlers in and to transport the products, others built ferries, canals, riverboats, and rail lines.

The cow hunters of the vast area of DeSoto County (now five separate counties that stretch in a belt across south central Florida) became legendary. Some, like “Bone” Mizell, passed into folklore through song and anecdote, while others were captured in the magical art of Frederic Remington in 1895. This generation of cow hunters gave the new meaning to the term “cracker”—a term that now came to be associated with the long bullwhips that they cracked like gunshots over the heads of cattle to drive them out from the hammocks and brush. This association of the term “cracker” with the cowboy whips is widely referenced throughout the pioneer villages and other Cracker sites in Florida, especially with displays related to the cattle business. Cracker cow hunters with their cracking whips would drive the cattle overland to ports like Punta Rassa and Bradenton for shipment to Cuba.

The literature of Cracker culture is rich and growing. For many readers around the world, Florida Crackers first came to notice through the work of the transplanted Washington, D.C.–born Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings, with her part-memoir, part-fiction works, Cross Creek, Gal Young Un, and The Yearling. Rawlings’ works caught the imagination of the nation just on the cusp of the folk revival led by Woodie Guthrie and Pete Seeger in the world of music, by other authors like James Agee, and by photographers Walker Evans and Dorothea Lange.

Efforts to capture and preserve the Cracker heritage flourished as the United States celebrated its 200th anniversary in 1976. In that bicentennial year and over the next few years, some local organizations and state and local governments took their first measures to establish several of the pioneer villages, museums, and other venues discussed in this volume.

With contributions by scholars, journalists, archaeologists, and researchers of all kinds, a host of more recently published works explains how Cracker culture can offer positive values and strengths for the present. These values include self-sufficiency, honesty, hard work, and a straightforward approach to surviving the effects of harsh weather, economic hardship, and simple bad luck. We list the works we consulted in the bibliography of this book.

In recent decades, local historians and scholars have collaborated in many efforts to present Florida’s pioneer and Cracker heritage, not simply through words, but through tangible items. Tools, utensils, appliances, farming equipment, structures, livestock, and clothing all have been carefully gathered. Whole farms are dedicated to showing the day-to-day life of pioneer families. These places, buildings, and artifacts serve as solid documents of the past, telling their stories as well or better than any letter, newspaper item, or book.

Some nearly forgotten skills are now demonstrated and taught: candle-making, blacksmithing, sugarcane pressing, syrup making, wood joinery, pottery, fireplace cookery, and others. Trained demonstrators lay out for children and adult visitors exactly how pioneer ancestors worked with their hands and available materials to make products, foods, and tools. Since Florida history is a state-mandated part of the fourth grade curriculum, many schools take advantage of field trips to nearby Cracker villages to expose children to the nearly forgotten tools and ways of work. Cookbooks and a few restaurants capture Cracker cuisine as well. Re-enactors not only revisit the battles of the Second Seminole War and the Civil War, but stage large rendezvous meetings to demonstrate life of the early territorial-era decades of Florida history.

Since Florida opened to American settlement later than any other East Coast state, becoming a U.S. territory only in 1821, with many of the settlers flowing into the state in the decades following the American Civil War of 1861–65, the pioneer heritage here is not as far removed from the present generation as in other parts of the East. That is, many older native Floridians remember their grandparents as belonging to the pioneer generation and personally remember the age before electrification with kerosene lamps, woodstoves, and other technologies of earlier eras. For many Floridians, the years of the Great Depression, 1929–1939, extended the hardships of pioneer life well into modern times. The period of “Cracker history” is often defined as running from the 1830s to as late as the 1940s. Bringing electric lines to the countryside under the Rural Electrification Administration and power cooperatives in the mid and late 1940s is often regarded as the development that ended the Cracker era. That development roughly corresponded to the closing of the open range for cattle in 1949.

Scattered across Florida are some nineteen major sites, and two very good museums, that make efforts to represent the life of the state’s pioneers. Some of these sites are large-scale villages. In these, local historians and prideful native Floridians have gathered from surrounding countryside or preserved on-site as many as fifteen to twenty actual structures. The buildings represent the different types of Cracker architecture, including houses, barns, stables, smokehouses, privies, sugar works, turpentine stills, churches, schools, and general stores. Other sites are more modest, with a few community buildings, once-private homes, or a store.

Cracker architecture reflected several different traditions. Most of the pioneer homes were built by the family that would live and work in them; some had help from neighbors. Some of the homes were log, but many were simple frame structures with board-and-batten exteriors and shingle or metal roofs. Several characteristics were common: like the Native American chickees that may have provided a model, most were raised above ground level to provide a cooling breeze beneath the structure and to help prevent entry of snakes and other critters. Commonly, the kitchen, because of fire hazard, was in a separate building, sometimes connected by a covered or open breezeway. Many Cracker homes were one story, some contained a sleeping loft reached by ladder or steep unenclosed stairway. Porches, “shotgun” hallways from front to rear, and the “dogtrot” breezeways and the elevation off the ground all provided for cooling airflow. Some of these features have been emulated by modern architects and are fully documented in the excellent study, Classic Cracker: Florida’s Wood-Frame Vernacular Architecture, by Ronald W. Haase.
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The classic Cracker home, raised off the ground to limit the access of snakes and to provide for airflow, is said to be inspired by the Native American shelter, the chickee. (Library of Congress.)



Many of the pioneer and Cracker village and museum collections have an embarrassment of riches as local descendants of pioneer families generously donate inherited artifacts. In fact, most of the museums and villages already have more items in storage than they can possibly display at one time. A dilemma solved in different ways by curators and site directors is whether to try to replicate the look and feel of an original home or workplace, or to use the structure to display the wide variety of multiple donated artifacts that represent the work and life of earlier eras. Each approach has its value.

The visitor needs to look closely at such mundane objects as oil lamps, heavy sad-irons for ironing clothes, wood-fired kitchen ranges, and clever devices like corn-hullers, sugar grinders, and barrel wells. Features of structures also tell their tales, such as the breezeways and porches that offered a cool spot to work. Each artifact and structure, if studied closely, bears within it the imprint of a nearly forgotten skill or an adaptation to the climate and conditions of Florida. Through these tools and structures, the picture of a vanished way of life emerges. The items seem haunted by the hardened hands that once worked with them. Children raised with television and the Internet sometimes catch the echoes of the past in these rooms and places. The experience can be memorable.

In this volume we provide a straightforward guide to those places that present this heritage through structure and artifact. A premier site is the home of Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings, and we begin with that location, centrally located in the state just east of Gainesville. In nineteen chapters, arranged by region, we present the details of villages, farms, homes, and stores that have been created or preserved and are open to visitors with the specific goal of showing various aspects of pioneer and Cracker life. In an appendix, we note additional museums that speak to Florida’s pioneer heritage.

The bibliography has the historical and other literature used in compiling this work, and a short list of official Internet websites of the locales described.

“Villages” as Historical Displays

Some of the pioneer villages described here reflect the historical building and artifact display methods first established by John Rockefeller. Rockefeller funded the establishment of Colonial Williamsburg in the mid-1920s. There, buildings on the site were restored and then re-enactors and docents demonstrated colonial Virginia lifestyles. The site remains a major attraction today.

However, many of the Cracker and pioneer villages in Florida are modern assemblages, established by moving historic buildings to a central site. That idea has a separate origin. Albert B. Wells, who inherited the business and fortune of the American Optical Company, was an avid collector of antiques, and in the mid-1930s, he conceived of the idea of Old Sturbridge Village in Massachusetts, which opened for visitors in 1946. That village consisted entirely of older structures physically moved to the site, where the lifestyles and workways of seventeenth- through twentieth-century working-class people were demonstrated. Like Old Sturbridge Village, many of the pioneer villages of Florida contain buildings moved to the site from elsewhere, usually from just a few miles away. A few sites, such as the Dudley Farm and the Wood and Swink Store, like Colonial Williamsburg, center on buildings that were originally on the site, but most are assembled, along the pattern of Old Sturbridge Village.

For students of social and cultural history, including architectural history, as well as tourists and school children, these villages are useful sources of physical “documentation.” Unlike political and military history, the fields of social and cultural history focus on the daily life of the people rather than on the specific actions and motivations of society’s leaders. For that reason the specific historical events and political developments such as the Second Seminole War, the Civil War, or the Great Depression and the New Deal are not detailed here, but only show up now and then as reference points or backdrop to the more immediate concerns of daily life for ordinary people. Knowledge of how people worked, lived at home, met in communities, or studied at school are all better absorbed from studying the tools and artifacts and how they were used than through reading documents and statistics.

Some visitors and students of social and cultural history are interested in certain specific industries or types of agriculture and want to visit certain sites because they relate to topics they are studying. For those students, scholars, and history tourists with such special interests, the following listing may be useful. Some of the sites touch on many aspects of pioneer culture and thus appear in the list below more than once.

Topics and Sites

Citrus Industry: Florida Pioneer Museum and Village, Dade City (Blanton Packing House); Florida Agricultural Museum, Palm Coast; Osceola County Pioneer Village, Kissimmee (Cadman Packing House); Heritage Village, Largo; History and Heritage Museum, Orlando (in Appendix).

Cracker Architecture: Forest Capital Museum, Perry; Silver River State Park, Ocala; Manatee Village, Bradenton; Panhandle Pioneer Settlement, Blountstown; Fort Christmas, Christmas.

Cracker Cowhunters: Florida Agricultural Museum, Palm Coast; Manatee Village, Bradenton; Kissimmee Cow Camp, Lake Wales.

General Stores and Post Offices: Wood and Swink Store, Evinston; Panhandle Pioneer Settlement (Clarksville post office), Blountstown; Florida Pioneer Museum and Village, Dade City (store); Fort Christmas (Simmons House with post office exhibit), Christmas; Tallahassee Museum (B. O. Wood Commissary), Tallahassee; Osceola County Historical Society and Pioneer Museum, Kissimmee.

Nineteenth-Century Agricultural Lifestyle: Dudley Farm, Newberry; Florida Agricultural Museum, Palm Coast; Tallahassee Museum, Tallahassee; Panhandle Pioneer Settlement, Blountstown.

Railroading: Barberville (Pierson Railroad Depot); Florida Pioneer Museum and Village, Dade City; Cracker Country, Tampa; Tallahassee Museum, Tallahassee; Heritage Village, Largo.

Sugar and Syrup Making: Dudley Farm, Newberry; Florida Pioneer Museum and Village, Dade City; Fort Christmas, Christmas; Panhandle Pioneer Settlement, Blountstown; Silver River State Park, Ocala; Florida Agricultural Museum, Palm Coast.

Turpentine Works and Naval Stores: Florida Pioneer Museum and Village, Dade City; Forest Capital Museum, Perry; Tallahassee Museum (B. O. Wood Commissary; Florida Agricultural Museum (Traxler Commissary), Palm Coast.

The visitor, child or adult, who walks through these sites can draw more than simply a knowledge of bygone lifestyles. By looking closely and listening for the voices of the pioneers, the visitor can feel the hard and honest struggle those pioneers made and sense the values that shaped their pursuit of happiness. Those values, far removed from the commercialized and technical world of the present, evoke many sensations: pride in ancestors for some and recognition that within all of us are resources for surviving adversity.


CENTRAL FLORIDA

CHAPTER ONE

Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings Historic State Park

Location: Cross Creek

Driving Directions: From U.S. 301, turn west at Island Grove on County Route 325, 4 miles. From Gainesville, follow Route 20 east 8 miles to County Route 325, then 9 miles south. Follow signs to park in designated area.

Hours of Operation: The grounds are open daily 9 A.M. to 5 P.M. Tours of the interior of the house are conducted from October through July, Thursday through Sunday (except Christmas and Thanksgiving holidays): 10 A.M., 11 A.M., 1 P.M., 2 P.M., 3 P.M., and 4 P.M.

Fees: $3.00 parking fee.

Phone: (352) 466-3672

Things to See Nearby: Silver River State Park Cracker Village; Dudley Farm

History of the Site

The site was the home of the writer Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings from 1928 to 1943, and she continued to visit the house for short stays after that. Under her will, the University of Florida acquired the home on her death in 1953. The home and surrounding land became a Florida state park in 1970.

Main Structures

Fence and gate; Rawlings House—three separate structures assembled together as a single home; carport and 1940 Oldsmobile identical to one she had owned; barn—a reconstruction of the original which did not survive insect and weather damage; tenant’s cottage.
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Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings, the author of The Yearling, lived in this house in Cross Creek in the years 1928–1943.



Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

The home of Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings is a good starting point for visitors seeking to learn more of the Cracker way of life. Not only is the home a museum of Cracker artifacts reflecting the 1930s Cracker lifestyle, it is a preserved memorial to the author whose works were key in the modern appreciation of Cracker people, culture, and values.

Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings

Marjorie Kinnan was born in 1896 and grew up in Washington, D.C. As a child she had been interested in writing, winning several prizes for her work. She attended the University of Wisconsin at Madison, where she earned a degree in English in 1918. She met her first husband, Charles Rawlings, when they both worked on the college literary magazine there. After their marriage in 1919, she and her husband moved to Louisville, Kentucky, where they both worked on the Louisville Courier-Journal. They later moved to Rochester, New York, where they wrote for the Rochester Journal.

In 1928, with a small inheritance from her mother, Rawlings bought a small orange grove at Cross Creek. Her intention was to settle in a remote area in order to work on romance novels and short stories. However, her editor at Scribner’s, Maxwell Perkins, was fascinated by her letters about Cross Creek, and he encouraged her to use the local setting as background. In 1930 and 1931, Scribner’s published two of Rawlings’ stories, “Cracker Chidlings” and “Jacob’s Ladder.” Her short story “Gal Young Un” won the prestigious O’Henry prize in 1932. It was later made into a movie, filmed at the Haile plantation and released in 1979. She published a novel set in Cross Creek, South Moon Under, in 1933, about a moonshiner. The novel, like her stories, captured the imagination of readers throughout the country, and the book became a Book-of-the-Month Club selection. Charles Rawlings grew tired of life in the remote setting, and the couple divorced in 1933.

Marjorie continued to incorporate real-life figures and the actual setting of her house and the neighborhood into her works, including the Pulitzer Prize-winning The Yearling, published in 1938. She did not hesitate to write about actual people by name in her works of nonfiction, and as a result she was sued by Zelma Cason for her depiction in Cross Creek (1943). Recounting a trip with Cason to conduct a census of the backcountry surrounding Cross Creek in 1930, Rawlings described her friend as “an ageless spinster resembling an angry and efficient canary…. I cannot decide whether she should have been a man or a mother. She combines the more violent characteristics of both, and those who ask for or accept her manifold ministrations think nothing of being cursed loudly at the very instant of being tenderly fed, clothed, nursed or guided through their troubles.” Rawlings, in several other passages, described Zelma Cason’s ability and habit of swearing. Cason filed a lawsuit that was finally resolved at the Florida State Supreme Court, with Rawlings found guilty of “invasion of privacy”—not libel. Rawlings was ordered to pay $1.00 in damages; however, she had spent some $30,000 in legal fees. She later reconciled her differences with Zelma Cason and they renewed their friendship.

The case apparently discouraged Rawlings from writing about her acquaintances and the Cross Creek setting, however. She had already published some twenty short stories, four novels, and two nonfiction accounts that had all been based on her life in Cross Creek and incorporating aspects of Cracker life, but in her later writings she used other settings. She and her second husband, Norman Baskin, a hotelier from Gainesville, moved to a home at Crescent Beach on the Florida Atlantic Coast. Baskin opened a new hotel in “Warden’s Castle” in St. Augustine where the couple maintained a penthouse apartment. The building now houses the Ripley’s Believe it or Not Odditorium.

Marjorie Rawlings died at the age of 57 in 1953, and was buried in a cemetery near Cross Creek, not far from the grave of Zelma Cason.

The Rawlings House

The house and grounds are prominently featured in Cross Creek. The house itself and the small surrounding orange grove and Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings’ life there also play prominent parts in other works about Rawlings: The Creek, by J. T. Glisson; Idella: Marjorie Rawlings’ “Perfect Maid,” by Idella Parker and Mary Keating; and Cross Creek Kitchens, by Sally Morrison. Aspects of the house, its Cracker lifestyle and artifacts, and neighbors’ lives also show up in Rawlings’ most famous work, The Yearling.

Standing at the gate to the property, the visitor is met by a posted quotation from Cross Creek:

Any grove or any wood is a fine thing to see. But the magic here, strangely, is not apparent from the road. It is necessary to leave the impersonal highway, to step inside the rusty gate and close it behind. By this, an act of faith is committed, through which one accepts blindly the communion cup of beauty. One is inside the grove, out of one world and in the mysterious heart of another.

It was clear that, for some fifteen years of her relatively short life, Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings found a peaceful retreat, and a place that she grew to love.
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Marjorie Rawlings housed orange grove equipment in this barn.



Visitors exploring the grounds see remnants of her orange grove. Tour guides explain the troubles she had with the fruit crop there on the northern reach of the modern citrus range in Florida. The guides also recount some of the comings and goings of various “grove men” who tended the trees. A small tenant cabin sits off to the left of the house, the residence for the several maids she hired over the years to assist with caring for the house and with the meals she liked to prepare for guests.
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Over the period of her stay in Cross Creek, Rawlings hired several maids who lived in this tenant house.



Next to the house a privy stands on the site of the original with an incongruous red rag on the door. In Cross Creek, she explained how, once a door had been installed in the privy to provide some privacy, it was difficult to know whether the seat was occupied. A guest, Uncle Fred, came up with the notion of taking the cloth from inside the outhouse and putting it in the path to warn off embarrassing intrusion. Unfortunately, she noted that sometimes a guest would forget to return the cloth to its proper place, leaving it to “stand like a red light against traffic, for hours and hours and hours.”

The house itself consists of three separate structures linked together, with a breezeway or dogtrot, as in traditional Cracker homes, separating the living quarters from the kitchen. Standing in the dogtrot, the windows into the living quarters are only about a foot or so above the level of the floor of the dogtrot, revealing the assembly of slightly disparate structures.

When she published the story “Jacob’s Ladder” in 1931, for the then “fantastic sum” of $700, she used part of the proceeds to install the first indoor bathroom in Cross Creek. Guides tell the story of the party she threw celebrating the new plumbing, with ice and soda in the bathtub—a “gala social event.” Later, with royalties from the book Golden Apples, she installed a smaller bathroom attached to her bedroom.
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When indoor plumbing was installed, Rawlings threw a party, with drinks chilling in ice in the new tub.



All of the items in the house are either ones that were actually owned by Mrs. Rawlings or are exact duplicates. Since she took her typewriter when she moved away, the one on the porch where she wrote is a duplicate. She donated her library to the University of Florida, and the copies of the volumes in the house have been purchased and donated to replicate her original library.

Tour guides can offer many details about particular artifacts, and visitors should feel free to ask about a few specific items. For example, a glass “minnow trap” sits on top of the icebox on the porch outside the kitchen. The trap would be set in a stream and minnows could swim into the jar but could not find their way out; they would later be used as bait. The corn shucks scrub mop in the kitchen was one Rawlings had first used when staying at the home of Piety and Leonard Fiddia in the Big Scrub (now Ocala National Forest), where she learned about Cracker housekeeping. After Rawlings’ death, Piety offered the scrub mop to the caretakers of the house as a gift and it was gladly accepted. Not only was it one Rawlings had used, she mentioned the mop in the first paragraph of The Yearling, when the boy Jody anticipated that his mother would not miss him, since it was Friday. “She would sweep the floor with a broom of ti-ti and after that, if he was lucky, she would scrub it with the corn-shucks scrub.”

Rich details of Marjorie Rawlings’ life emerge on any visit to the home. It is easy to visualize her sitting on the porch where she wrote her works, or driving and getting stuck in the sandy roads of Cross Creek in the yellow Oldsmobile like the one parked in the carport next to the house. Guides point out the corner near the fireplace, where below, she stored firewood, and above, she stored “fire water”—her supply of alcohol both before and after the end of Prohibition.
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This 1940 yellow Oldsmobile is identical to the one that Rawlings drove, often getting stuck in nearby sandy roads.



Despite her desire for a secluded place to write, Marjorie Rawlings loved to entertain, as both her memoir Cross Creek and her cookbook Cross Creek Cookery attest, as do the memoirs of friends and visitors. Among her guests was the well-known black writer Zora Neale Hurston, a relationship explored in Anna Lillios’ Crossing the Creek: The Literary Friendship of Zora Neale Hurston and Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings. Rawlings met and kept up correspondence with other authors of the era, including Earnest Hemingway and F. Scott Fitzgerald, through her editor, Maxwell Perkins.

Across the road, but not open for visiting, stands the Brice House, built about 1895 by Clyde C. Axline. Axline sold the house to W.R. Brice in 1910, and in Cross Creek Rawlings described the Brices as her closest neighbors.

Rawlings and Folk Culture Revival

Through her writings Rawlings captured one of the trends of the 1930s and 1940s. Like other authors, photographers, and artists of the era, she reflected the distrust for and rejection of urban life, modernity, and technology, all of which had seemed to fail with the excesses of the Roaring Twenties and the Great Depression.

Rawlings’ personal contribution was to draw national attention to the virtues and strengths of Florida Cracker life. Her perspective as a Northerner made it possible for her to translate and express those values for a wider national and even international audience. The Yearling, intended as a book for young readers, found its way into the reading lists of grammar schools across the nation. The 1946 movie based on the book, starring Gregory Peck, Jane Wyman, and Chill Wills, further showcased her perspective for a vast audience.


[image: Image]

Marjorie Rawlings did much of her writing at a typewriter on the screened-in porch. This Remington Noiseless portable stands in for the original one she used.



To a very large extent, the effort of Florida state and local governments to capture and preserve Cracker culture, reflected in the present guidebook, and to embed respect for that pioneer history in the elementary school curriculum, can be traced to the work of Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings. By evoking the time and place in her popular fiction and her own personal accounts of her fifteen years in Cross Creek, she helped establish Florida Cracker and pioneer culture as a vital and respected part of the American heritage.


CHAPTER TWO

Wood and Swink Store and Post Office

Location: 18320 E.CR 325, Evinston

Driving Directions: From I-75, take Exit 268 East, proceed to 441 North. At intersection of 60th Ave N and 441 (where 441 veers to the left), proceed on 60th Ave N/CR 325 about 2 miles to Evinston; Wood and Swink Store is on the left.

Hours of Operation: Monday–Friday, 8 A.M.–12 P.M., 2 P.M.–5 P.M.; Saturday, 8–10 A.M.; closed Sunday and federal holidays.
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This 1882 country store is carefully maintained in Evinston. The store has been in the same family for more than 100 years.



Fees: none

Things to See Nearby: Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings Home; Micanopy

History of the Site

The site was originally part of the Spanish Arredondo land grant of 1817. Arredondo sold a portion to N. Brush, who later sold two sections along the west side of Orange Lake to the Evins family, who moved here from South Carolina. Captain W.D. Evins gave the right of way to the Florida Southern Railroad in 1882. The rail stop was named Evinston, with a depot built in 1884. The community soon boasted a blacksmith shop, two more stores, two packinghouses, and a gristmill. When the hard freezes of 1894–95 ended the prosperous orange groves in the region, local farmers turned to vegetable crops and raising cattle.

The Evinston store was built of heart-of-pine lumber in 1884. Like other heart-of-pine structures, it was practically impervious to insect or weather damage. In 1956, when the passenger rail service was discontinued and the highway was widened, the store was moved a short distance south to its present location. Freight trains continued to use the track until 1982.

The store had always been a community meeting place through several changes of ownership. In 1909, H.D. Wood and Robert Evins bought the store. Wood and Paul C. Swink formed a partnership in 1934, the year Fred Wood became postmaster. He served until 1978, the longest serving postmaster in Florida, and the U.S. post office is still located in the building. On his death, Wilma Sue Wood, Fred’s daughter-in law, became postmistress.

Visitors can hear a detailed description of how the interior of the store appeared in the 1930s by dialing (352) 327-9005 and entering 363#. The narrative is provided by Freddy Wood, son of Wilma Sue Wood, grandson of Fred Wood, and husband of Sue Wood, the present postmistress. The narrative (which continues through the linked numbers 364#–368#) provides details of the goods once sold in the store, the store’s interior layout and equipment, including a wood-burning stove and a kerosene-operated refrigerator, and other details such as a single gasoline pump that stood out in front. Through the 1930s, customers continued to arrive by horse-and-buggy, and by pickup truck.

In addition, Freddy Wood explains how the store has appeared in numerous news and magazine feature articles, as well as in two movies and in television productions.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

The store gives a clear view of the range of products that would be sold in a general store, ranging from hardware through clothing, sewing items, kerosene, to local produce and food products brought in from other areas. Freddy describes how the process of gathering a customer’s purchases by the store owner provided a comfortable time for sitting around the wood stove for exchange of news, gossip, and information. The store continues to serve as a focal point for the community, and residents hope it will continue to do so as they seek to preserve their way of life.


CHAPTER THREE

Micanopy

Location: The town of Micanopy is 15 miles south of Gainesville, accessible from I-75 and Route 441.

Driving Directions: From I-75, take exit 374, proceed east and follow signs to historic Micanopy.

Things to See Nearby: Wood and Swink Store; Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings Home; Dudley Farm

History of the Site

Micanopy is a residential and commercial community, not a created or reconstructed village. It traces its history back to 1821 with the establishment of Wanton’s trading post and a post office. In that year, the name of the spot was changed from Cuscowilla (a small Indian village in the area) to Micanopy, after the chief of the Seminoles in the Paynes Prairie area. The Arredondo Land Grant, which included Paynes Prairie, Gainesville, and most of Orange Lake, surrounded Micanopy. It was the first area in the territory available for settlement under United States law. For survey purposes, a center point for the whole land grant was established, now at the center of the intersection of Cholokka Boulevard and Ocala Street in Micanopy. Local historians believe that the main street of the town, Cholokka Boulevard, followed an ancient Indian trading path.

Fort Defiance was built in the area and then burned during the First Seminole War. Fort Micanopy replaced Fort Defiance in 1837, and remained open, off and on, into the 1850s. The town itself was surveyed and platted with town lots in 1850, and by 1851 the town had an apothecary, a carriage maker, and a doctor. On a crossroads, the town became a center for cotton trading. By 1860, on the eve of the Civil War, the town had a population of 279.
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The area around Micanopy was the first to be surveyed and laid out for settlement after the United States acquired Florida as a territory. (Florida State Archives)



During the highway development of the 1920s, Route 441 ran from Gainesville down Cholokka Boulevard and continued past the northeast side of Lake Tuscawilla, becoming a major artery for north-south traffic in the central region of the state. However, in the 1960s, Route 441 was widened and converted into a four-lane highway that bypassed the center of the community. Businesses that had thrived for decades closed down. In the 1970s, the community developed a reputation for inexpensive housing, and began to draw artists and faculty members from the University of Florida. In the 1980s, the town had a rebirth as visitors came to view the surviving examples of Cracker and other older architecture and the sense of Old Florida preserved along the main street. Antique shops, lunchrooms, guest houses, and other establishments began to thrive on the steady flow of tourists.

Some Notable Town Structures

At the north end of Cholokka Boulevard, the Micanopy Museum, located in the Thrasher Warehouse, offers exhibits and literature about the history of the region and the town. A walking tour map available at the museum lists thirty-eight historic structures (most of which are still standing). Here, we mention just a few of the more striking ones. We note those that are private homes, and visitors should view those buildings from the street and not expect interior tours.
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The Micanopy Museum is located at the north edge of downtown Micanopy on Cholokka Boulevard.



Thrasher Warehouse. Built about 1890 by J.E. Thrasher next to the American Coastal Line railroad tracks, the building served as a general store. The structure is now owned by the town and contains the Historical Society Museum. The volunteer staff is knowledgeable about the town, the structures, and the history of the region.
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The museum inside the former railroad station in Micanopy houses a fine collection of artifacts from the Cracker era and representing local history.



Log Cabin/Packinghouse. The unusual log cabin was built in 1930 under the roof of an existing packinghouse to save space on the lot. The roof has helped preserve the structure, which opened as a restaurant. It now houses an arts and crafts shop.

The Stewart-Merry House (private). At the south end of Cholokka Boulevard, the house was originally built as a two-room log cabin and served as the office of Dr. James Stewart in 1855. A second story was added about 1872. John Merry bought the home in 1916 and added the wide porches.

The Simonton House (private). Built by James Simonton in 1910, this Queen Anne house has a characteristic wraparound porch and a three-story tower.

Simonton-Herlong House. At the north end of Cholokka Boulevard, on the west side of the street, the original two-story house with a detached kitchen was built about 1875 by John A. Simonton. The impressive four-pillared front shelters first- and second-floor porches. The house is set back from the street on a whole block and now serves as a bed-and-breakfast.

Calvin Merry House (private). At the north end of Cholokka Boulevard, beyond the Thrasher Warehouse/Historical Museum, sits this plain wooden house, built about 1880. It is the oldest house on the east side of the street.

Along Cholokka Boulevard between the Stewart-Merry House at the south end and the Calvin Merry House at the north end, there are more than two dozen older structures dating from the 1870s through the 1930s, some now devoted to modern commercial uses.

Visitors who have noted the Micanopy “Clyde Sutton” residence in the book Classic Cracker by Ronald W. Haase will be disappointed to learn that the structure no longer exists. It burned down after the book was published.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Although similar older communities can be found in other states, Micanopy is a very rare survivor in Florida. With examples of Cracker, Craftsman, Queen Anne, frame vernacular, and Gothic Revival architecture, the community carries echoes of many decades of commerce and residence. Its art-colony atmosphere, its many weekend visitors, and its commercial establishments focused on arts, crafts, and antiques make it a popular spot to soak up the general ambience of past decades.


CHAPTER FOUR

Silver River State Park Cracker Village

Location: 1445 N.E. 58 Avenue, Ocala

Driving Directions: Silver River State Park is located east of Ocala, 1 mile south of S.R. 40 on S.R. 35. From Interstate 75, take Exit 352 onto SR 40 east, about 9 miles to SR 35. From Interstate 95 take Exit 268 to Route 40 west, about 60 miles to SR 35.

Hours of Operation: As a state park, the grounds are open from 8 A.M. to dusk, daily. However, guided tours of the Pioneer Village are held the second and fourth Saturdays of the month. Call to confirm times.

Fees: $6.00 per vehicle; extra charge for vehicles with more than eight occupants.

Phone: Park: (352) 236-7148; Silver River Museum: (352) 236-5401

Things to See Nearby: Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings Home

History of the Site

The Silver River State Park opened in 1987. However, the park’s Cracker Village site traces its history back to a replica school and church built in the mid-1980s by Freeman Godwin and donated to Camp Kiwanis at Mill Creek Dam in the Ocala National Forest and operated by the Florida State Bureau of Environmental Protection. The Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) had set up the site at Mill Creek originally as a camp for workers in the 1930s. The Kiwanis Club of Ocala leased the property from the Forest Service and opened it as a summer camp for children in 1948. At the same time that Godwin built the schoolhouse, he also built a Cracker-style house to live in, replicating the home in which he had been raised.

Special Events: In addition to Cracker Village tours, annual Cracker events have been scheduled. Call for details.

In March, Civil War re-enactors replay the Battle of Marshall Swamp nearby.

Main Structures

Jim Hinton family home; blacksmith shop and tool barn; schoolhouse and church; Godwin family home; laundry shed; cane syrup kettle and sugarcane grinder display; pantry and barn; Seminole “paha” structure; “chickee” structure; Silver Springs School.
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As in many pioneer communities in Florida, the same building served as both church and one-room schoolhouse, like this one at Silver River Cracker Village.



Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Much of the park owes its origin to Freeman Godwin, a local pioneer who owned 40 acres of land located inside the general boundaries of the Ocala National Forest. Godwin reputedly once turned down an offer of one million dollars for his property. He decided that since he had been born and raised on the property, and was happy there, he simply did not want to move.

Born in 1921, Godwin was one of three boys raised on the family homestead. He recalled how his father would send the brothers out into the woods to get some meat. Taking a 12-gauge shotgun, the boys would bring back possum, alligator, pond crane, or squirrel for dinner. His family produced small quantities of sugar syrup using the kettle he donated to the Village in 1986.
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The porch of the Godwin house is a gathering place for discussions of Cracker lifestyle and local history.



The original home in which he was raised had gone to his sister and brother-in-law, who decided to tear it down. Godwin, who worked for the Park Service, had inherited his father’s sawmill, so he decided to use surplus lumber at the mill to build a replica of his family home.

Visitors can see several features of traditional Cracker architecture in the home Godwin built: It has a dogtrot passage and windows across from each other to provide natural breezes; the kitchen is in a separate rear structure for fire safety; the building is raised from the ground to prevent entry of snakes and varmints, much like the traditional chickees of the Native Americans. The raised structure echoes the Native American styles of the paha (palm thatch hut), and chickee, both built on the site for demonstration purposes by Seminoles.


[image: Image]

This chickee at Silver River Cracker Village, with characteristic raised platform, was constructed by Seminole volunteers.



Freeman was quoted in the Ocala Star-Banner of December 29, 2006, as saying: “You can have a better life in a Cracker house than you can have in one of these fancy homes. You’re scared to touch them.” After living several years in the replica, Freeman built another home out of redwood and moved into it, donating the replica structure to the Silver River Museum, which had been established in 1994.
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Demonstrations in this blacksmith shop at Silver River include nail-making, iron-working, and use of the forge, bellows, and anvil.



During guided tours, visitors learn details of the history of the Hinton House, the Godwin House, Cracker cowboys, and plantation and pioneer life in the Civil War era, including making hominy and lye soap. Presentations also cover the rich history of local sugar production. Rangers sometimes demonstrate aspects of the blacksmith trade in the fully equipped smithy, explaining tempering of metal and the function of various tools. Other points on a tour include demonstrations and hands-on experience in laundering, pumping water, and other farm chores.

Although the Godwin family only had a single sugar refining kettle, guides explain the process of sugar refining at some of the larger plantations using a “sugar train.” The “Spanish train” consisted of four or five kettles, each with its own source of heat; the “Jamaica train” would have five or six kettles with a common source of heat directed through flues under all the kettles and into a tall chimney. The kettles could produce syrup, molasses or sugar. Distilleries on some of the larger plantations also produced rum.
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This kettle was used for boiling down sugar and for scalding hogs in the slaughtering season.



In the Civil War era, there were a total of seventeen sugar plantations in Marion County supplying Confederate forces with sugar. As part of the background of the area, park rangers and volunteers describe the large Marshall Plantation, located nearby. Jehu Foster Marshall had set up a sugar plantation near the intersection of NE 7th Street and County Road 314 on the west side of the Ocklawaha River, now identified by a historical marker on the spot.

Colonel Jehu Foster Marshall was born and lived in South Carolina. He served in the South Carolina legislature representing Abbeville. He had served as a captain of the Palmetto Regiment in the Mexican-American War. He built the plantation on the Ocklawaha River in 1855. The Silver River flows into the Ocklawaha a few miles north of the Marshall Plantation area.

Leaving the state legislature in 1862, Marshall served as a colonel in the Confederate Army and commanded the 1st South Carolina Rifles, a regiment in General Wade Hampton’s forces. Marshall died during the Second Battle of Manassas, August 1862. His widow, Elizabeth Anne DeBrull Marshall, continued to operate the plantation until March 10, 1865, when Union troops burned the home and mill to the ground. The local Ocala Home Guard and a unit of the Second Florida Cavalry drove the Union forces back to St. Augustine, but the plantation was not restarted. The original plantation residence has been rebuilt as a private home but is not open to visitors.

The Jim Hinton home, now part of the Silver River Cracker Village, is a genuine Cracker residence and has been moved twice to arrive at its present location. It was built by Jim L. Hinton (1844–1925), who had served in the Confederate Army in the 19th Georgia Cavalry. Hinton moved to Marshall Swamp after the Civil War, where he farmed a couple of hundred acres of land formerly part of the Marshall plantation. He also started and operated the ferry on the Ocklawaha River at the Sharpes Ferry Road crossing (now N.E. 7th Street/County Road 314 bridge).
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Jim Hinton built this house in the 1870s and 1880s at the site of the Sharpes ferry where Highway 314 crosses the Oklawaha River. From 1918 to 2001, the house stood on a small farm just west of Highway 35 on the eastern side of Ocala.



Jim L. Hinton built the home himself in the 1870s or 1880s. The original building has been changed slightly, with the kitchen expanded. A porch that was once attached was lost when the house was moved. Smaller structures on the property included a privy, a smokehouse, a sugar caning building, and animal sheds.

In 1918, Hinton hauled the cypress house from the location at the ferry to a home site west of Baseline Road/Route 35, to an old turpentine plantation across from the modern-day Rolling Greens housing development on Cherry Road. The land was covered with stumps and Jim Hinton paid his son, W.J. (Beau) Hinton, 24 cents a stump to remove them. J.L. planted watermelon and raised long-horned cows on the property. Beau continued to live on the property into the 1970s.

In 2001, Fred McAteer and his family donated the house to the Cracker Village. Guy Marwick, then director of the site, raised the necessary $20,000 to fund the second move of the structure to its present location, a trip of about two and a half miles.


CHAPTER FIVE

Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts

Location: 1776 Lightfoot Lane, Barberville

Driving Directions: Located just off State Route 40; look for signs on Route 3, just east of Route 17 crossing; from west on State Route 40, about 8 miles past Astor, turn right on Route 3, then take immediate right.

Hours of Operation: Monday–Saturday 9 A.M.–4 P.M.; closed Sundays and major holidays.

Fees: Adults $6; Children 6–12 years, $4; 5 and under free.

Phone: (386) 749-2959

History of the Site

In 1976, the Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts, Inc., a 501-c3 corporation, opened a museum at the old Barberville Central High School, which had operated as an elementary school from 1940 to 1969. Since then, the organization has acquired additional buildings to relocate on the site and has also built replicas on-site. The Settlement is one of the larger of the pioneer villages in the state in number of buildings and exhibits. It also runs a large set of educational programs for visiting school groups and other classes and workshops for historical site docents and demonstrators.

Special Events: Jamborees are held on the first Saturday of every month. In addition an annual Spring Frolic Music and Dance Festival is held the last weekend in April. Call ahead to confirm function dates.

Main Structures

Barberville Central High School (original to the site, 1919); Astor Bridge House (1926; moved to site 1983); post and beam barn (built here, 1986); cane grinder and boiler; Lewis Log Cabin (1875; moved and reconstructed on site, 1992); Quarters House (1922; moved from New Smyrna Beach, 1997); Midway Methodist Church (1890); print shop (1880s style; built on site); wheelwright shop and carriage house (built on site, 2000); Joseph Underhill House (ca. 1879; purchased, 2005); woodwright shop (built on site, 1993); Pottery Shed (1920s; moved 1989); Huntington Post Office (ca. 1885; moved, 1996); firehouse (ca. 1900 as blacksmith shop); blacksmith shop (built near site, 1879; undergoing restoration); Pierson Railroad Depot and caboose (ca.1885; moved to site, 1982); Tomoka Turpentine Still (1924); H.L. Wynn’s Commissary (ca. 1900; moved to site, 1985); Pastime touring boat (at entrance, ca.1910; acquired, 1998); Timucuan-Myaccan village and Seminole village (built on site).

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

The Pioneer Settlement specializes in training volunteers, guides, and docents from other museums and villages around the state in traditional crafts. Scheduled workshops include weaving, candle making, blacksmithing, quilting, pottery making, woodworking, printing, and other crafts. Visitors can sometimes observe classes for such skills in session. Visitors at other times can simply walk through the exhibits on self-guided tours, learning details of the crafts and workways by studying the tools, implements, and structures. Exhibits relate to nineteenth and early twentieth century commerce, religion, home life, transportation, and education.

The permanent exhibits in the schoolhouse include a weaving room, a candle-making room, exhibits of washing machines and kitchen equipment (some on an outside walkway), an early twentieth century classroom, and a principal’s office. A large auditorium is available for special exhibits of folk art and objects that change from time to time.
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Inside the main school building at the Barberville Pioneer Settlement, this schoolroom contains displays of early kitchen equipment and is used today as a workroom for mounting displays.



Unique Exhibits

At the entrance to the Village, a richly illustrated map shows the “Florida Black Bear Scenic Byway,” with information about famous visitors and residents of the region, including adventurers, writers like Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings, naturalists like John James Bartram, and “vacationers” like Harriet Beecher Stowe and John Jacob Astor.
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Wood-burning stoves like this one were in use well into the 1950s and 1960s in Florida.



Among the unique exhibits located on the grounds of the Pioneer Settlement is the Tomoka Turpentine Still. The still was built by the Tomoka Land Company near Daytona Beach in 1924. As of the date of publication, the structure is still undergoing refurbishing by the Florida Artist Blacksmith Association; however, it is the only known turpentine still to be open to the public in the state.
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The Tomoka Turpentine Still is being restored. It is the only complete turpentine still in the state open to visitors. Turpentine, distilled from pinesap, was a major Florida product into the 1940s.



The Huntington Post Office, built in 1885 after the railroad came through the area, served a small community that was located west of Crescent City and East of Lake George. It was donated to the Settlement in 1996.
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Throughout rural Florida in the Cracker era, residents picked up their mail at tiny village post offices like this one.



The firehouse has two antique fire engines: a 1918 American Lafrance and a 1933 Hahn.

The Wynn Store was originally a commissary for turpentine workers near Bakersburg, Florida, and is now fitted out as general store. Workers would run up a debt at the store to be deducted from their pay for the collected pinesap.

The Carriage House contains several unique wagons, including a school bus with roll-down windows to protect against rain and an oxcart with seven-foot wheels.
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The Barberville collection of horse-drawn vehicles includes this school bus with its canvas curtains for rainy days.
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Turpentine workers lived in provided quarters. The unique wallpaper, made from newspapers, was an ingenious solution to the problem of winter drafts.



The small Quarters House represents the type of housing provided for turpentine workers. A unique feature is the use of newspapers and corrugated cardboard to paper the interior walls. Inside the house, panels describe the life of Luella Ross, who grew up in such a camp and who joined the staff of the Settlement in 1986. Luella’s mother, Cora Jackson, had been a practicing midwife, and Luella brought her knowledge of folk medicine and home remedies when she joined the staff of the Barberville Settlement in 1986. The house was built in the 1920s and was moved from New Smyrna Beach in 1997.

The Lewis Log Cabin, built in 1875 by Jim Lewis in Georgia, is one building in the Settlement not original to Florida, but it serves as a good example of some aspects of Cracker architecture, done with logs rather than board-and-batten. Among the typical features are the steep stairs to a sleeping loft, broad porch, fireplace, and cross-ventilation. A porch on one side was enclosed as a storeroom; now it has been “repurposed” as a kitchen, as the original kitchen for the cabin was in a separate building.
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Luella Ross, who joined the Barberville staff in 1986, grew up in a house just like this one.
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This cabin is typical of Cracker log architecture. Built about 1875, it was moved from Georgia to the Barberville Pioneer Settlement in 1992.



The Settlement is not intended to represent a single village, but to serve as a venue for presenting a wide variety of skills and aspects of life and to provide settings for training in or exposure to them. For this reason, the settlement is structured as a series of facilities, each devoted to displaying and teaching about a different feature of pioneer life, from school life, through agriculture, and including homemaking skills and other crafts such as pottery, woodworking, printing, and blacksmithing. As a consequence, the Settlement simultaneously reaches out to several audiences: history tourists, craftspeople in training, and educators and their pupils. Classes in the crafts are not offered on a set schedule, and those seeking to learn more about them should contact the settlement for dates, times, and other details.

Educational Programs for Children

The Settlement makes a special effort to present programs suitable for school field trips, which are organized on a two-hour basis. The field trips are designed to follow state standards. Special rates, guides, and programs are offered, and teachers need to call ahead to schedule and arrange the trips. As indicated in the following list, some of the programs are directed at particular grade levels. For more details, see the settlement web page (noted in the bibliography) or call.

Pioneer Program. Students learn about pioneer skills including candle making, weaving, spinning, blacksmithing, woodworking, and butter making. They get to learn how to do laundry on washboards. The program includes a visit to the farm, where donkeys, chickens, and peacocks are housed. (grades K–12)

Lassie Cake Program. Almost all the ingredients of a Lassie Cake can be produced on a farmstead. Children learn about bees and honey, utensils, and equipment in a pioneer kitchen. They make and eat a “from scratch” cake. (grades PK–3)

Seminole Indian Program. Topics include Seminole patchwork, Seminole legends, the Seminole clans, weaving palmettos, and tasting sofkee. (grades K–12)

Florida History Program. Costumed interpreters represent people of the pioneer era. Students may meet a teacher, tradesman, tourist, logger, homemaker, or farmer. (grades 4–12)

Timucuan-Myaccan Program. While touring the Timucuan Village, students learn about Native American farming, hunting, fishing, family life, pottery making, and tools. They can experience burning out a dugout canoe and investigate archaeological clues. (grades 4–12)

Old Fashioned Traditions Program. For the Christmas holiday season, special programs emphasize winter festivals celebrated around the world. Students learn about some of the crafts and celebrations of other countries. They get to make candles, lace cards, Poinsettia bracelets and hats; they can string popcorn and meet “Mr. and Mrs. Claus.” (grades PK–3)

Rites of Spring Program. Children get to make butterflies and spring baskets, dye eggs, visit the farm and plant seeds, and learn about the relationship between the celebrations and symbols and the annual reawakening of the earth. (grades PK–3)

Country Store visits include opportunities to purchase a variety of low priced merchandise, as well as exhibits of traditional products.
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The small country store at Barberville gives you a good idea of the kinds of goods sold in the Cracker era.



Specialty Programs. The Settlement also develops specialized programs to enhance a particular curriculum or course related to literature, social studies, pioneer life, and other topics. Each field trip lasts about two hours and is comprised of fifteen-minute-long stations.


CHAPTER SIX

Dudley Farm

Location: 18730 W. Newberry Road, Newberry

Driving Directions: From I-75 take Exit 387, proceed west about 7 miles to Dudley Farm on Highway 26/Newberry Road

Hours of Operation: 9 A.M. to 4 P.M., Wednesday through Sunday. Groups seeking a guided tour should call ahead for a reservation.

Fees: $5.00 per car parking fee

Phone: (352) 472-1142

Things to See Nearby: The Dudley Farm is about 23 miles from Micanopy.

History of the Site

The farm is the original home of P.B.H. Dudley Sr., a cattle trader from South Carolina. Dudley developed the home site at the location before the Civil War, purchasing 360 acres in 1859. By 1870, he had expanded the farm to some 900 acres, mostly devoted to raising cotton. P.B.H. Dudley Jr. took over the farm in 1881 on the death of his father, building the present Dudley farmhouse in the 1880s for his growing family. He operated a post office in 1892–94 and opened a general store on the property in 1900. He built the farmhouse with four large rooms around a central hallway, adding an attic bedroom for eight daughters. He added other buildings including the hay barn, milk room, pump house, and wagon shed. When he died in 1918, his widow Fannie and three sons continued to operate the farm, bringing in Hereford cattle and replacing cotton with tobacco as the farm’s main crop. Daughters Winnie and Myrtle maintained a chicken farm until 1945. Miss Myrtle Dudley continued to operate a small beef cattle herd and maintained flower and vegetable gardens. In 1983, Myrtle Dudley donated the original farmstead with existing buildings to the Florida Park Service. She also donated farm implements and furnishings, following her mother’s wishes that the farm remain intact. In 1986, the Florida Park Service purchased 232 surrounding acres of the original farmstead to preserve the rural landscape. Miss Myrtle Dudley passed away in 1996 at age 94, leaving behind interviews and documents to help preserve the farm as a historical and educational facility.

Special Events: Specific dates vary from year to year and can be confirmed by phone. Some events are:

Plow Days with Mule and Horse Teams

Antique Tractor and Car Day

Quilt Show

Stargazing

Domestic Skills Demonstrations (most Wednesdays)

Second Saturday Kids’ Days

Annual Cane Day Fund Raiser (first Saturday in December); sugarcane milling demonstration with sugarcane syrup available for purchase.

Main Structures

In addition to the main Dudley Farmhouse, there are some seventeen preserved or reconstructed outbuildings devoted to various purposes. At the parking lot, new structures, not part of the original homestead, house a Visitor Center. The Visitor Center is in a building originally built by Peter Garfield and Cordia Thomas Hodge in 1918 in West Newberry, and moved to the farm site in 1998. A gift shop is located in a building originally owned by Oren Marchant who paid for its move to the site and thus it is called the Marchant Commissary. The Hodge Barn that houses gifts of farm equipment and wagons is also not original to the farm, and a new sugar-processing shed was built to avoid wear and tear on the original equipment on the farm itself during “Cane Days.” Outdoor exhibits include wagons and carriages, and mule-drawn tillers, plows, and cane-cutters.
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Outside the preserved area of the Dudley farm, a display of farm equipment includes this harrow.



The farm itself, located a short walk back into the property, is not a creation through the relocation of buildings from elsewhere, but an authentic farm complex. The facility is a living history working farm, consisting of a total of 325 of the Dudleys’ original 640 acres.

Well into the twentieth century, the family continued to raise crops such as field corn, sugarcane, and sweet potatoes, using mule-drawn farm equipment in the traditional fashion. As a result of the boll weevil infestation that swept across the South in the years 1915–1925, the farm shifted from cotton to tobacco production. In the 1930s, the family finally decided to trade some mules to an equipment-dealer to acquire a John Deere tractor.
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Boll weevil blight set back cotton growing in Florida in the early 1920s, so the Dudleys turned to raising tobacco. (Library of Congress)



A modern feature of the Dudley Farm self-guided tour is that visitors can use their cell phones to dial a special number and hear a recording of details of the structure: (352) 385-5351. After dialing the number, wait for the prompt, and then enter pound (#) sign, then the numbers indicated below for the following building descriptions, repeating for other buildings at the conclusion of each message. The only charge is that for the regular cell phone minutes used, and the information can be accessed from anywhere with cell-phone service.

1.   Visitor Center

2.   Dudley Farm general

3.   Grounds

4.   Dudley Farmhouse and Garden

5.   Cane Syrup, House

6.   Sweet Potato Cellar

7.   Kitchen Building

8.   Mule Lot and Milking Room

9.   General Store (slightly relocated from original roadside location)

10.  Original Homestead Foundation
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The Dudley tobacco barn had typical slatted sides for air passage while drying tobacco leaves.



Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

The Dudley Farm is an excellent exhibit to gain a picture of nineteenth and early twentieth century farm life in Florida. In addition to the informative narratives on the cell-phone linkage, a self-guided brochure, a video in the Visitor Center, and explanatory displays in the Visitor Center offer rich details on how the family of eight girls, four boys, and two parents conducted their daily lives. Volunteer docents and the park ranger gladly answer questions and provide further detail.

The grounds contain crepe myrtle trees and azalea trees (once bushes), fruit and nut trees, and grape arbors. An unusual half-underground masonry shed in the front yard was used by the Dudley sisters for repotting plants and storing gardening tools.

The variety of rural tasks reflected on the farmstead and its furnishings is extensive and includes displays in the actual structures devoted to making butter and cottage cheese, canning farm produce, doing the laundry, butchering and smoking hog meat, raising chickens, and maintaining feed and stabling a mule. Fred, the mule currently used for grinding sugarcane during Cane Day demonstrations, greets visitors with a friendly nod over his fence at the mule lot.
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Fred, who participates in demonstrations, is always happy to greet visitors.



The rooms of the house contain original furniture, reflecting the simple but comfortable arrangement for a large family. A central front-to-rear hallway with wide, shaded porches front and back provide cooling breezes. Visitors often take a break from the walking tour in the inviting rocking chairs on the porches. The girls’ upstairs bedroom is not accessible due to safety concerns, so photos of that room’s furnishings are on display on the first floor.
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The Dudley family farmhouse features a lush front garden that still contains many of the original shrubs and trees planted more than 50 years ago.



Notable details of the house include installed lightning rods on the roof, a water run-off system to an outside cistern, and fireplace heating. The completely separate kitchen building is larger than some found in other Cracker homes, with a dining room complete with furnishings and dishes. The kitchen building itself has been moved more than once, according to the memories of visiting Dudley descendants.
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Behind the farmhouse, a separate kitchen building is large enough to serve meals.



Other structures tell their tales, including the sweet potato cellar—a lime rock foundation covered with a simple A-frame shingled roof. The structure is a reconstruction over the original foundation.
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Reconstructed for demonstration purposes, the roofed-over sweet potato cellar provided cool storage.



The syrup house complex has a two-kettle lineup, heated by a single hearth with a tall cylindrical iron chimney. The kettles were also used for hog butchering and scalding in the winter, and for processing lard and making lye soap.
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Behind the rotary sugarcane mill in the foreground, the syrup house contained two kettles for rendering sugar.



The family operated a general store, and the building was moved slightly from the original location where the Newberry road passed through the property to its present location. The goods in the store, together with the socializing area around the stove and the post-office desk, reflect products sold and furnishings of the period around 1900.

Since every effort has been made to honor the wishes of Fannie Dudley and her daughter Myrtle Dudley that the farm be preserved, the experience at Dudley Farm is quite different from visiting other Cracker and pioneer villages. Because the layout of buildings and furnishings very closely preserves the original, you see an actual nineteenth century farm, not a re-creation. Details such as the preserved vegetables, the layout of washtubs, the water supply to Fred’s corral, the short walk from the house to the kitchen with its eating area, all evoke life as actually lived by the Dudley family for many decades.
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This ingenious labor-saving system carried water in a wooden sluice from a pump directly to the livestock watering trough.




CHAPTER SEVEN

Osceola County Historical Society Pioneer Village

(Pioneer Village at Shingle Creek)

Location: 2491 Babb Road, Kissimmee

Driving Directions: From I-4 take Exit 68 to FL 535; turn left on 535 South; proceed about 3.6 miles and turn left on 530East/U.S. 192 (Irlo Bronson Memorial Highway); turn left on Old Vineland Road; about one mile turn right on Babb Road to 2491.

Hours of Operation: Daily 10 A.M.–4 P.M.

Fees: Adults $7; Children (4-12) $3; Children (3 and under) free

Phone: (407) 396 8644

Things to See Nearby: The site is rather isolated from other Cracker sites, as Kissimmee and Orlando are dominated by modern development, Disney World, and other twentieth and twenty-first century attractions. The Osceola County Pioneer Village is about 50 miles from Homeland Heritage Park, and about 55 miles from the Kissimmee Cow Camp. The Osceola County Historical Society operates a museum with related displays at a Welcome Center, 4155 W. Vine Street.

History of the Site

Osceola County Historical Society was founded in 1949. For some twenty years the county displayed its collections in the Osceola County Center for the Arts. In 1987, Carl and Ruth Yates Spence donated four acres to the historical society, and the village was constructed by moving structures to a site on Bass Road. In 1987, Ross Lanier, honoring family wishes, donated the 1889 home in which he had been raised. Hillsborough County cowman John Lanier had built the home on Ham Brown Road about ten miles to the north and it was moved at a cost of about $8,000 to the Bass Road site. The Tyson House and the Cadman packing shed were donated by the Cadman family of Narcoossee.
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As with many other Cracker homes, the family sought to preserve the structure for the sake of history, so this 1889 home was donated by a Lanier descendant to the Pioneer Village in 1987.



T&T House Moving and Heavy Rigging of Green Cove Springs moved the packing shed to the original Bass Road site in mid-December 2005. Then Osceola County Historical Society’s president David Snedeker, who was also assistant principal at Deerwood Elementary School in Poinciana, began work on restoring the packinghouse. These details and others can be found in the work of local historian Jim Robison entitled Historic Osceola County: An Illustrated History. However, in June 2014, the whole village at the Bass Road site was closed and moved about one mile north to the present location on Babb Road, opening November 8, 2014, at the new site.

Special Events

The Osceola County Historical Society, which operates the village, hosts holiday events for the Halloween and Christmas seasons. Because dates change from year to year, visitors should check by phone.

Main Structures

The site contains the Lanier House, the Cadman Citrus Packing House, circa 1882, and the Tyson House, with some displays from the era. The Tyson House is quite small, a two-room, board and batten structure once home to the C. J. Tyson family, including 11 children. Built in Narcoossee in 1887, the building was donated to the Village in the late 1990s by a later owner, Ed Jennings.
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This house, as a country store, provided a setting in a TV film documenting the life of Zora Neale Hurston.



The Tyson House was used as a setting for a 2007 film biography of Zora Neale Hurston to depict “Joe Clark’s Store.” Filmmakers shot other scenes inside the Lanier house in the film. The documentary, titled Zora’s Roots, aired in 2008 on PBS and in later reruns. The video, produced by Eagle Productions, Inc., can be obtained on DVD from the PBS website.

The Cadman-Sharp orange packing shed dates from 1892. It had also been located in Narcoossee, and was donated to the historical society in December 2005. The owners gave up the citrus business after Hurricane Donna in September of 1960 damaged the groves. The packinghouse today includes a citrus washer and citrus sorter.
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This packing shed contains original orange grove equipment such as a sorting table.



The original town of Narcoossee has a history reflecting the ups and downs of Florida land speculation. E. Nelson Fell set up the community on a tract of land on the shore of East Lake Tohopekaliga in 1883, promoting the site with newspaper advertisements that praised the area and promised fortunes from growing citrus, which brought in settlers from Britain. In 1888 the St. Cloud & Sugar Belt Railway (later, the Atlantic Coast Line or “A.C.L” Railroad) came through the town, promising further improvement to the local economy. The freeze of 1894–95 drove many citrus groves out of business, and in 1910 Fell obtained title to a large tract in Indian River County. There he set up Fellsmere and took many of the Narcoossee settlers with him, leaving only a ghost town behind.

The Cadman family, descended from the one of the original settlers at Narcoossee, British Lt. Col. William Cadman, stayed on and in 2006 donated both the packinghouse and a small building that was later used by the family’s children as a kind of clubhouse or hideout, with lofts for sleeping set in the rafters.

As of this writing, the new site at Shingle Creek is undergoing development, with plans for both authentic restored original buildings and replica structures. Plans include the construction of a village railroad depot and a church. Near the gate at the entrance, the Babb Homestead contains preserved buildings from the 1920s. Entry to the whole park is presently through the Partin House, which contains a small gift shop as well as the admission desk.

Outbuildings at the village include a blacksmith shop, a Cracker cow camp, and a replica Seminole village with chickees and a display representing a Seminole cooking fire.
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A replica at the Osceola Pioneer Village is set up to demonstrate Seminole life.
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Period artifacts displayed in the Lanier house show Cracker home life.



Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Volunteer tour guides lead groups through the Lanier House, explaining numerous common features of Cracker architecture and life, including the use of breezeways and porches for cooling, the raised structure, an outdoor washing area, and other features of pioneer life.

Visitors may learn details of the citrus industry that dominated the central region of Florida in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The 1882 packing shed, with its artifacts related to citrus packing, gives an impression of the work. In addition, the Lanier home and Tyson House provide visual reminders of aspects of Cracker life in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.


CHAPTER EIGHT

Lake Kissimmee Cow Camp

Location: Lake Kissimmee State Park, 14248 Camp Mack Road, Lake Wales

Driving Directions: State Road 60, 15 miles east of Lake Wales

Hours of Operation: The park is open 365 days a year; demonstrations at the cow camp are held every Saturday, Sunday, and every holiday except Christmas, 9:30 A.M. to 4:30 P.M.

Fees: Parking fee only: $5.00 per car; $4.00 per single-occupant car; $2.00 per person by bicycle or on foot.

Phone: (863) 696-1112

Things to See Nearby: Homeland Heritage Park

History of the Site

According to the official park history, during the Civil War the area around Lake Wales was used for raising cattle that were either shipped to the Confederate Army or sold in Cuba. After the war, cattle became the main industry in the region and cattle-raising continues to be the basis for the economy today. The park lies between Lake Kissimmee on the east, Lake Rosalie on the west, and Tiger Lake on the south, and is crossed by Tiger Creek and Rosalie Creek. A high point in the park was “Buster Island,” a place where Billy Buster, an outlaw Seminole, was “exiled.”

Actually, Buster, one of six sons of the Seminole leader Tiger, was run out of the tribe in Brighton because he was accused of killing the son of a chief. He lived on the high ground formed by the land between Tiger Creek and Rosalie Creek. Born in 1835, he was alive and well in 1938, one of the last survivors of the Seminole wars. He had lived off the land, occasionally slaughtering one of the scrub cattle that roamed free in the wetlands, and was well known for his dugout canoe that he used to travel widely through the lakes and creeks of Central Florida.

The land occupied by the park had been owned by a farmer named Callahan, who in 1928 built a log cabin and tried raising corn and sweet potatoes. Unfamiliar with the seasonal changes and water levels, he was flooded out. The land was bought in 1948 by William Zipperer, who converted the land to cattle-raising. His cowhands used the old log cabin.

The State of Florida purchased about 5,030 acres of the land from the William Zipperer estate in 1969 for use as a state park, and Lake Kissimmee State Park opened to the public in August 1977. The state bought an additional 900 acres in 1997 to extend the park’s western boundary. The ranger station was built in 1987.

Main Structures
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A trail leads through the woods to the cow camp.



At the entrance to the 1870s cow camp a sign greets the visitors: “Stop. Beyond this sign you will enter the year 1870. Grant is President. The cow-hunter you are about to meet is a hard-working uneducated Cracker. He likes to talk about his life and times and encourages questions. But forget about the 20th and 21st century. That history has not yet been made.” The costumed interpreter who greets visitors on weekends and holidays with tales of cow-hunting is a park ranger.

A small structure has a chickee-like raised platform on one side for sleeping (with a nearby campfire on the ground to keep mosquitoes away). The other side shelters a chuck wagon. The interpreter keeps a pot of coffee brewing over the fire and sometimes drinks from a tin cup as he gives his talk.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

The presentation covers the life of Florida cow-hunters. The demonstration includes cracking the ten-foot long whip and tales of cow-hunting. According to the narrative, prior to the Civil War cow-hunters would fire pistols in the air to signal to their dogs and scare the cattle from the woods. After the war, they substituted cracking whips due to the high price and scarcity of ammunition.
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A pot of coffee is kept brewing for visitors at this chickee.



A small group of Cracker cattle and Cracker “leopard curs”—the small and wiry mottled dogs trained to flush cows from the woods—round out the presentation. The interpreter may explain how the cow-hunters went to town in Tater Hill (now Arcadia) to raise hell on the weekends. He may remark that there were no cowboys in Florida—the “boys” were sent to Texas, and the cow men remained!
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Cows were rounded up from the woods and driven overland to ports on the Gulf coast for shipment by sea to Cuba or to ports to the north.
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Cracker horses, descended from Spanish stock, were used by the Cracker cowboys to drive the wild cattle from the swamps, woods, and hammocks.




CHAPTER NINE

Pioneer Florida Museum and Village

Location: 15602 Pioneer Museum Road, Dade City, FL 33523

Driving Directions: From North: I-75 to Exit 301; east on 50/98 to 98 South; about 9 miles to Pioneer Village on left; From South: I-75 to Exit 285; east on 52 to Dade City; right on Meridian Avenue, north on 98/301 about 2 miles to Pioneer Village on right.

Hours of Operation: Tuesday–Saturday, 10 A.M.–5 P.M.; closed Sunday, Monday, and major holidays

Fees: Adults $8; Seniors $6; Children 6–18 $4; group rates available

Phone: (352) 567-0262

Things to See Nearby: Dade City is about 40 miles north of the Tampa region and about 100 miles from the Dudley Farm and other sites near Gainesville. The nearest Cracker attraction is the museum at Zephyr Hills, about 10 miles to the south via Highway 301, discussed in the appendix.

History of the Site

The Pioneer Village and Museum traces its origin to 1960, when Rudolph Rhode and his sister, Annie Rhode, donated 37 antique farm implements and tools to the Pasco County Fair Association. Over 1960 and 1961, the museum organized and the State of Florida chartered the group as the Pioneer Florida Museum Association, Inc. At first, the Pasco County Fairgrounds housed the collections. In 1973, Emily Larkin donated six and a half acres to the association in memory of her husband, William Larkin, forming the present site of the village. The museum opened on Labor Day in 1975, with the mission of “promoting and fostering public interest in pioneer Florida life.” Over the years, through additional donations, the grounds have grown to 21 acres. Special Events (call or check website for exact dates as they change from year to year):

November, December, and January: monthly tractor-pulls

January: “Raising Cane” Syrup Tasting & Tractor Parade

February: Farm Festival & Quilt Show (draft horse competition and quilt displays)

March: Model Train Show

April: Florida Old Time Music Championships

May: Hummingbird Festival

September: Pioneer Florida Days Festival

October: “Skirmish at Chipco” Civil War battle re-enactment

November: Artifact and Fossil Show

December: Country Christmas Open House (visitors bring unwrapped toy donations for admission)

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

A gift shop and reception area greet you at the entrance. The main building also houses several collections, including a doll collection, a selection of Roseville pottery, a display of sad irons (heavy irons for pressing clothes), and a doctor’s and dentist’s office outfitted with pre-1920 equipment.

The village collection displays provide rich information about many aspects of nineteenth and early twentieth century life with particular emphasis on sites and life in Pasco County. The structures and artifacts give a tangible and visual depiction of not only the home and work life of the period, but also provide a window on practices of religion, education, and commerce. Other displays focus on transportation, agriculture (particularly cattle, citrus, and sugar), and wood products—lumber and turpentine. The collections of structures and artifacts that bear on all of these topics are rich and interesting to the casual visitor, and very detailed and informative for the student.

Religion. Before the first church was built in 1878 in the small town of Enterprise, southeast of Dade City, families brought in a traveling preacher once a month to hold camp meetings. “Sings” and Sunday school compensated for the lack of any church building. The plain outfitting of the Enterprise Methodist Church shows the sparse setting for Sunday services. Church organs, gas lighting, hard wooden pews, and a stark pulpit suggest spirituality unencumbered by comfort. The present building, typical of rural church architecture, was built by local residents at a cost of $500. Services were held in the structure from 1905 to 1925. The church was moved to the museum in 1977.
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This Methodist church originally stood in Enterprise, Florida, and was in use from 1905 to 1925. It was moved to the Dade City Pioneer Museum and Village in 1977.



Education. The Lacoochee School House was built in 1926 as part of a group of buildings, but its architecture was typical of one-room schoolhouses of an earlier period. Built for children of workers at the Cummer Lumber Company, the structure was intended for first-graders. Features reflecting the teaching methods of the nineteenth century include slate boards and chalk, recitation benches, and black boards that are literally wooden boards painted black. In the school collection are a Union Speller from 1926, a wasp nest, and other local items that children might have brought in for “show and tell.” The school structure was the first historical building moved to the museum grounds. The museum took it over in 1976, just weeks before it was to be torn down.

Commerce. The C. C. Smith General Store building was donated to the museum by C.C. Smith’s niece and moved to the museum in the year 2000. The store had served the Lacoochee area from the 1920s through the 1970s. The store holds a fascinating collection of products and artifacts, together with a small post office counter typical of those often found in stores in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Docents and some older visitors can explain the function of many of the items on display, including cloth sold by the bolt, an icebox kept cold with blocks of ice, clothes irons heated by spirit lamps, and a wide assortment of other tools, utensils, and products.

The store was built in 1927 and served the Lacoochee community until 1985. It has been restored as much as possible to its 1927 appearance. Particularly striking are the original prices of common items such as candy, showing the changed value of the U.S. dollar over the last century.
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This store operated for about 50 years, into the 1970s, and now houses period artifacts and store goods from the period.



Household daily living. The John Overstreet House, formerly located on the present grounds of the Rodney B. Cox Elementary School, is one of the oldest wood frame structures in the county. The house contains a parlor with “home entertainment” equipment that includes a parlor organ and a wind-up phonograph. The kitchen, separated at the back in the Cracker tradition to prevent fires spreading to the main structure, contains many artifacts of the period: the stove with warming ovens, hand pump at the sink, butter churn, kitchen utensils, dishes, and supplies.


[image: Image]

Modern children may never have seen a scarecrow, and this whimsical version fascinates many.



To the side of the house, a vegetable garden, complete with an elaborate scarecrow, shows some of the vegetables commonly raised in pioneer gardens. A chicken coop constructed with traditional slats is reinforced with modern chicken wire.
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Pioneer families often kept a few chickens for a reliable food source.



Transportation and Industries

Horse-power transportation history comes alive at the Pioneer Museum and Village in many of the other buildings. In the Mabel Jordan Barn, named for a former president and trustee of the museum, the modern construction holds the collection of horse-drawn carriages and exhibits of farm implements and woodworking tools. The original Rhodes collection of implements, donated by Rudolf Rhodes as part of the first 1960 collection at the Pasco County Museum, is housed in this building. Horse-drawn carriages include a Civil War munitions wagon and the first “school bus” of Pasco county, an open wagon.
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The Mable Jordan Barn contains an extensive display of wagons and farm equipment, including this horse-drawn munitions wagon.
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The Mable Jordan Barn collection includes this surrey, used for church-going, visiting, and picnics, but not for heavy farm work.



Larger carriages include a Phaeton, a surrey, a covered wagon, a 1914 two-horse Davenport wagon, a doctor’s buggy, and a Texaco Oil wagon. Outside the barn, a Model T Ford, with a homemade wooden station wagon body, is on display.


[image: Image]

The ubiquitous Model T Ford was a mainstay of Cracker transportation in the 1920s.



Turpentine. Tools on display in the same barn include a boxing axe and hack heads used in the turpentine industry, showing how trees would be incised with chevron-shaped cuts to drain the gum from large pine trees into clay pots, later refined into turpentine, the common paint solvent of the early twentieth century. A typical tree might yield 8 or 9 quarts of gum every season, from March through October. Turpentine was distilled by boiling the gum and then passing the gum-steam through a coil of pipes submerged in water that would cool and condense the vapor into liquid.

Farm implements. Plows on display inside and outside the Mabel Jordan Barn show how mule- and horsepower, and later tractors, were used in tilling the soil, planting, and harvesting crops. These include an 1893 one-horse turn plow, a homemade spike tooth harrow, and a 10-inch beam turn plow. Other equipment includes a corn sheller, a kerosene-burning egg incubator for hatching chicks that held up to 100 eggs, and a homemade box-type rabbit trap. A small device on display in the same building is a dog-powered butter churn, which children often find fascinating.

Cattle branding. Display labels in the Mabel Jordan Barn point out that most pioneer homes in Florida, even those in towns, were surrounded by fences to keep cattle out of the gardens and yards. Until 1949, cattle roamed free through the swamps, hammocks, and forests of Florida. Ranchers hired cowhunters who would round up cattle using the long rawhide Cracker whips to herd them to enclosures. There the cattle would be dipped to kill ticks and branded and earmarked to indicate ownership. Brands and earmarks would be registered in local courthouses, and labels explain the brands and describe earmarks among the dozens used in central Florida.

Sugarcane milling and sugar rendering. The sugarcane display includes a mule-driven cane mill, a small sugarcane patch, and an 80-gallon syrup kettle in a brick firebox. Displays of sugar rendering are held in the fall and cane syrup produced is on sale in the gift shop. The milling and rendering exhibit contains printed material on sugarcane, sugar, types of syrup, and molasses. The exhibits include several examples of steam-powered cane grinding mills that are on display on a rack near the sugar-rending kettle. Call ahead for dates of the sugar grinding and processing demonstration in the fall.

Citrus packing. Opened in 1910 and operating until 1989, the Blanton Packing House contained a citrus fruit processing center. The building and equipment were acquired by the museum in 2002, and the structure is a replica of the first phase of the orange packing facility. Displays include orange crates and advertising, sorting and grading racks, and an explanatory timeline of the citrus industry in Florida. In Pasco County, the industry had its beginnings in the 1890s after freezes knocked back citrus production around St. Augustine. Pasco County production reached its peak of over 10 million boxes a year by the 1970s.

Citrus labels have their own history as Florida’s “first billboards.” The first lithographed citrus labels were produced in California in the 1890s, and their use tapered off after World War II with the introduction of cardboard boxes. But for about sixty years the crate labels served as marketing tools and provided a form of advertising and promotion for Florida across the country. More than five thousand individual Florida label brands have been identified, and collectors now hold several citrus label meetings every year.
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This is one of thousands of historic orange crate labels that tell the story of the thriving Florida citrus industry in the late Cracker era.



A steam engine on display in front of the packinghouse was first used in the lumber mill in Lacoochee. It was later moved to Dade City to be the power source for the Pasco Packing Company and later the Lykes Packing Company.
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This steam engine powered several works before ending up at the Lykes Packing Company.



Lumber, crafts, and communications. Both the History Center and the Cummer Building were formerly located on the Cummer Ranch, east of the Withlacoochee River, and built as a hunting lodge by the Cummer Company. The Cummer Company had originated in Michigan and established a lumbering operation in Florida in 1910. The Cummer plant at Lacoochee operated from 1922 to 1959. The company used the steam locomotive on display on the grounds to pull log trains from the logging sites to main rail lines where the loads would be transferred to larger locomotives and hauled to the mill at Lacoochee. Cypress was valued for shingles and other uses because it did not splinter. As a result, Florida’s huge thousand-year-old cypress trees were nearly all harvested, leaving very few still standing.

The two buildings are linked by a handicap-accessible ramp. The Cummer Building has displays relating to the Cummer lumber business, a room devoted to spinning and weaving, and a hallway collection of old telephones that remind visitors how rapidly communications technology has changed. The History Center, formerly the mess hall, now houses the History and Archive Center, open Tuesday through Friday from 1 to 4 P.M. The two buildings were moved to the site in 1995.

Railroading. The Trilby Depot and Cummer Cypress Company steam engine display help develop an understanding of some behind-the-scenes aspects of rail travel. Trilby, once the third largest rail yard in Florida, was a stop on the H.B. Plant Railroad. Trilby itself lies about 10 miles to the north of the museum, just west of Route 98/301.

The station is equipped to look as it might have in the period 1896 to 1900. The telegrapher’s office at the village contains a working model of a telegraph, tapping out messages in Morse Code for train dispatchers. Descriptive panels explain the issuing of “train orders” that were communicated by telegraph to ensure that trains would not collide head-on on the long stretches of one-way train track, as well as the different systems of letter code used by telegraphers, and the telegraphic equipment itself. The freight forwarding office contains a realistic set-up of phone and typewriter typical of early twentieth century offices.
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Chalked train schedules like this one could be rapidly updated.



A well maintained display of railroad lanterns, a small section of track with a hand-car in a shed, and a typical waiting room with schedule round out the railroading display.

The nearby railroad engine on display hauled immense cypress logs to the mill in Lacoochee. The logs on the rail car behind the locomotive are tidewater red cypress, the specialty of the Cummer company. The Trilby Depot and the Cummer Sons Cypress Company steam engine built in 1913 by the Porter Company are preserved through an endowment from Blanche L. Wells.


CHAPTER TEN

Homeland Heritage Park

Location: 249 Church Avenue, Homeland, Florida

Driving Directions: From Winter Haven, Bartow, or Fort Meade, take U.S. 17/35/98 to Homeland, Florida. Turn west on Homeland-Garland Road (County Road 640). Follow signs left on Homeland Avenue, then right on 4th street.

Hours of Operation: 8 A.M. to 4:30 P.M., Monday-Friday

Fees: No charge

Phone: (863) 534 3766

Things to See Nearby: Zolfo Springs; Kissimmee Cow Camp

History of the Site. The five-acre park was established March 26, 1985, when the Polk County School Board deeded the Homeland School Building and its surrounding land to the Polk County Board of County Commissioners. The deed specified that a historic park would be created on the site. In the period 1986–89, the county commissioners arranged the movement of several other buildings to the site and established a recreational and educational program.

Special Events: Every October, the Homeland Heritage Park hosts a Cracker storytelling event that draws more than a thousand school students and members of the public.

Another major event is the annual Alafia River Rendezvous held at Homeland in January, drawing more than a thousand participants. The re-enactors wear pre-1840 costumes, participate in muzzle-loading gun contests, and camp out using authentic equipment from the early nineteenth century. The Pre-1840 Living History Encampment is hosted by the Florida Frontiersmen organization that owns a permanent campsite just about half a mile south of Homeland Heritage Park, reached by following Azalea Street/Old Fort Meade Highway. A gate on the left with the sign “Florida Frontiersman” marks the entrance. The Alafia River Rendezvous, open to the public, is considered the largest encampment of its kind on the East Coast.

Main Structures

The Homeland School—the only building originally located on the site—was built in 1878 and enlarged in 1900 and 1910. Homeland Methodist Church replaced the original rough-lumber Bethel Methodist Church, which had been built in 1878 about 3/4 mile away and moved to the present site in 1986. Raulerson House, built 1880, was moved to the site in 1988 from its location on the west side of Lakeland, Florida. The English Log Cabin was built in 1888 by Cornelius and James English and moved to the site in 1989. The English Pole Barn was built 1890.

Daily Life Through Structures and Artifacts

The town of Homeland in Polk County was originally known as Bethel. Founded before the Civil War as a stop midway between the towns of Peace Creek and Fort Meade, the community took form in the 1870s. One of the town structures was the Bethel Methodist Church. The small community grew up near the church with a school, general store, blacksmith shop, and a doctor.

Polk County was created in February 1861 by the division of Hillsborough County. Bartow, six miles to the north of Homeland, was designated as the Polk County seat following the Civil War in 1867. As a result, Homeland remained a very small, unincorporated, residential and crossroads community. The name was changed from Bethel to Homeland in 1885 with the establishment of a U.S. post office there.

Homeland Heritage Park is used by local residents and Polk County schools as a demonstration of early community life. The original school, built in 1878, was known as the Bethel Academy, with Colonel John Snoddy as its first teacher. Snoddy became a land agent, operating from the county seat in Bartow in the 1880s, and also served as the first county superintendent of schools, 1886–1888. The school is the oldest surviving school building in Polk County, and the classrooms are now used for demonstrations and displays.
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By 1905 the original school in Homeland, Florida, was expanded from a single classroom housing all eight grades to a four-room school with two grades per room. This building is the only one in the park on its original site.



As the population of Homeland expanded, the number of students grew from six to more than seventy-five. Additional classrooms were added, reaching its present size in 1910. A photo from the State Archives taken in 1905 shows some fifty-three students as well as “Professor West,” the male school teacher at that time. Students attended school in the building until 1956. The interior of the school is renovated. The largest room has a highly polished floor, white walls, and a raised stage appropriate for presentations. However, the sparse benches, chalk board, and teacher’s desk at one end, and another class-setting with an upright piano set up on the stage, convey the feel of classrooms of the early 1900s

The Methodist church, which replaced the original Bethel Methodist church built in 1878, has also been extremely well maintained, with bright new flooring, white walls with wainscoting, and a small organ on display. The original steeple was destroyed in a 1946 hurricane and replaced with the present aluminum steeple. The stained glass windows are original, rather rare for rural churches of the period. The church remained in active use until 1975. Associated with the church is the former parsonage and church annex, now housing the park offices.
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Through much of the nineteenth century, grammar school pupils learned to read with this standard text. (Library of Congress)
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The wagon and livestock in this Cracker era magazine sketch are accurate, but the depiction of people appears somewhat exaggerated. (Florida Department of State, Division of Library and Information Services)
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The shiny aluminum steeple on the Methodist Church replaced one destroyed in a 1946 storm. The church is a striking centerpiece of the Homeland Heritage Park.
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The sparse interior of the Methodist Church in the Homeland Heritage Park is relieved by stained-glass windows and this well-maintained organ.



The Raulerson House and the English Log Cabin represent two different types of pioneer families. Daniel Amos Raulerson was a “gentleman farmer” who raised strawberries and other specialty crops. In 1900 he purchased the house from Oscar Blocker, who had built it in the 1880s. Although Raulerson was well off, the house never had running water or indoor plumbing. The Raulersons lived in the house until 1912, when they rented it out. Raulerson continued to farm the land around the house in its original location near the intersection of County Line Road and I-4. Raulerson became a phosphate prospector. His son, J.D. Raulerson, was clerk of the circuit court from 1921 to 1937. When the house was moved to its present location, it had to be lowered to 18 feet by cutting off part of the second story to get under traffic light wiring. It was reassembled at the park by Bartow contractor Cal Adams. As of 2015, the restoration of the interior keeps the building closed to visitors.
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The Raulerson House provides a view of the lifestyle of prosperous pioneers.
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The log cabin built by Cornelius and James English in 1888 was moved to the Homeland Heritage Park 101 years later from a site near the present-day Lakeland Airport.



The English Log Cabin and the associated pole barn were built by Cornelius English at a site near the present-day Lakeland Airport near Plant City. Cornelius English had moved to the area from Taylor County, where he had served as a county commissioner. In 1867 he relocated from Taylor County to Plant City. He passed away in 1881. The English home has wide wraparound porches, providing cool places to work or sleep. The cabin has one large living area with a sleeping loft.

Both the Raulerson and English buildings illustrate some of the common features of late nineteenth century Florida architecture, especially the use of airflow for cooling.

The pole barn has separate cribs for storing hay, straw, tools, and animals. The roofed-over open area around the pole barn shelters a heavy-duty farm wagon and other farm implements of the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

When school groups tour the site, guides point out several features: the central importance of the church and school to the early community; the differences between the lifestyle of the affluent Raulersons and the more modest life of the English family; the role of farm equipment modernization in the growth of the community of Homeland. Guides also discuss the workways associated with farming, cattle raising, citrus groves, and phosphate mining. Phosphate mining in the “Bone Valley” region of Central Florida, including lands along the Peace River and reaching into Hardee, Hillsborough, and Manatee counties to the south and west, brought employment to the region from the 1880s to the present. Cattle drives to Punta Gorda headed through Homeland, still remembered by many of the old-timers of the region.
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Pioneers would often have one bit of luxury, such as a fine linen tablecloth on a spare plank kitchen table.



An “1880s School Day” program for third through fifth grade students has been offered to give the experience of going to a one-room schoolhouse of the period. During the program, a costumed “School Marm” uses a McGuffey Reader. Students use slates and slate pencils and each receives a copy of the “book of lessons.”


NORTHEAST

CHAPTER ELEVEN

Florida Agricultural Museum

Location: 7900 Old King’s Road, Palm Coast

Driving Directions: From I-95, take Exit 298, turn south on U.S. 1 to Old King’s Road for less than one mile, turn left. Museum entrance is on the immediate left. From the south on U.S. 1, turn on Old King’s Road, about 10 miles North of Bunnell. Entrance is on the immediate left.

Hours of Operation: 9 A.M. to 5 P.M., Wednesday–Sunday; last tour begins at 4 P.M.

Fees: Adults $9.00; Children 6–12, $7.00; Children under 6, free. Tours are guided, with the visits to the outlying buildings by tractor carriage or golf cart; horseback tours by appointment.

Phone: (386) 445-7630

Things to See Nearby: The site is about 19 miles from St. Augustine (about 25 minutes) and about 38 miles from the Barberville Settlement.

History of the Site

In 1983 Florida State Agricultural Commission Doyle Conner asked a group of concerned agriculturalists and historians to establish a facility to preserve the agricultural heritage of Florida. The state Division of Agriculture and Consumer Services originally set up a museum in Tallahassee. In 1992, the museum was officially named the Museum of Agriculture and Rural History of the State of Florida, and in 1997 the museum moved to its present 460-acre site. The Florida Department of State, Division of Historical Resources, provided grant funds for the move and renovation of the structures. The museum is currently operated as a private nonprofit corporation.

Special Events

A camp, event, or celebration is scheduled for nearly every weekend through the summer, fall, and early winter. Dates of these annual events and camps change slightly from year to year. Call or confirm dates and fees from the museum website.

Equestrian Summer Camp. The museum holds five separate five-day camps from June through August for children ages 8–15 years. Campers learn horse care, feeding, and horseback riding. Former campers often become regular volunteers at the museum to care for the museum horses, mules, and ponies.

Summer Day Camps. The museum hosts several three-day summer camp stays. Kids are introduced to farm life basics of beekeeping, animal care, carpentry, gardening, and daily chores.

Florida Orienteering Festival. Early September. Participants learn how to navigate trails in the Florida wilderness.

North Florida Folk Festival. Third weekend in September. An all-day festival of folk music and folk art.

Museum Day Live. Last weekend in September. The Agriculture Museum participates in a national event sponsored by the Smithsonian Museum through which visitors can get free admission.

Eagle Rock Equestrian Club Ride. First weekend in October. Organized trail rides for those with their own horses.

Pellicer Creek Raid. Second weekend in October. A re-enactment of a Civil War battle; a popular event that draws hundreds of visitors.

Haunted Trails and Corn Maze. Two weekends in October, with costumes. Features a spooky wagon ride through woods inhabited by goblins, ghosts, and creatures of all kinds.

Holiday Shopping Event. Early December. A shopping opportunity for arts and crafts including ceramics, clothing, country furniture, dolls, stained glass and glasswork, jewelry, metal work, pottery, photography, sculpture, and woodwork.

Main Structures

The Agricultural Museum has numerous outbuildings, sheds, and free-standing exhibits. The main buildings are the museum office, gift shop and duplex worker’s house, bell barn, mule barn, wagon shed, granary, Caldwell dairy barn, Whidden-Clark homestead, black cowboy exhibit, and the Traxler Commissary.

Across U.S. Highway 1 is the archaeological site of the Hewitt Sawmill. An exhibit at the rear of the Caldwell dairy barn shows how the mill originally looked and how it operated.

Daily Life Through Structures and Artifacts

The museum is specifically set up to show some of the unique aspects of pioneer agricultural life in Florida. A special feature of the museum is the livestock, including Cracker horses, Cracker cattle, and a Spanish hog. Guided horseback rides through the wooded trails are open to riders eight years old or older by reservation, experienced or not, with beginners welcome. Explanations by the tour guides, whether on horseback, on foot through the barns, or by farm wagon to the remote buildings, are tailored to the specific visiting group.
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This road grader could be hauled by a truck or a mule team to scrape down dirt roads.



Citrus Industry Displays

Several of the buildings are from the Theodore Strawn Citrus Company of De Leon Springs and represent the lifestyle and work of the 1920s and 1930s. Theodore Strawn, a native of Illinois, settled in West Volusia County and started his orange-packing company in 1882. In 1921 the original packinghouse burned and a metal structure with an iconic sawtooth roof was constructed to replace it. The packinghouse closed down after a destructive freeze on Christmas 1983 that killed the orange trees down to the stump.

The bell barn, wagon shed, mule barn, granary, and gift shop with its reproduction of living quarters for workers represent the citrus industry era. The duplex workers’ homes, in use from the 1920s through the 1970s, had a sleeping loft. To the rear of the structure were the shared outhouse privies, modernized for visitor use today.
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The bell was used to call orange grove workers.



The barn bell was used to summon workers, especially on early mornings when a freeze threatened and smudge pots had to be placed in the orange groves. The orange wagons used in the harvest were stored in the wagon barn, which has a unique feature. Workers would haul the wagons to the center of the barn, then hoist them to the second level where they were stacked and stored. Outside is a 1935 John Deere tractor. This particular model was known to be a dangerous ride because it easily flipped over. Dana Ste. Claire included a photograph of the bell barn and the duplex home in his 1998 book, Cracker: The Cracker Culture in Florida (p. 128), as they appeared in their original location in De Leon Springs.
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This unique granary has an ingenious double wall construction to help maintain a cool interior temperature.



The mule barn that now houses the museum’s horses and mules originally stabled the mules used to haul the orange wagons on the Strawn groves. The granary employs a unique design, with a double building-within-a-building structure to store the mule feed at a cool temperature: no higher than 79 degrees when the outside reaches 90 degrees or more. The loading dock or stoop has a removable bar for easier handling of grain sacks.

In the corral near the mule barn visitors can spot Milo, a Cracker horse. These small horses normally ran about 13-1/2 to 15 hands high—that is, 54 to 60 inches at the withers or shoulder. Over the years Cracker horses were also called “marsh tackies” or “Seminole ponies.” They are cousins to the wild mustangs of the West, descended from Spanish horses.
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Cracker horses like Milo, shown here, are a small breed, adept at herding cattle out of thick scrub and forest lands.



Dairy Industry

The descendants of the Spanish cattle, Cracker cattle were not at all suitable for milking. Later, when settlers came to Florida from the states to the north, they brought their own milk cows with them. By 1925, Florida had the beginnings of a dairy industry, with local dairies providing milk delivery door to door. Through the 1920s and 1930s, the dairy companies merged to form large corporate dairy and marketing corporations, and they shipped Florida milk out of state as well as supplying local needs.
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Built in the early 1920s, this dairy barn was adapted to Florida conditions and housed one of the state’s larger dairy herds.



The Caldwell Dairy Barn is a gift from the Caldwell/McCord family. It was originally built on the Harwood Plantation northwest of Tallahassee in the 1920s and reconstructed here. The dairy cows slept and workers cleaned and milked them in this barn. The barn handled up to seventy-two cows at a time in thirty-six stalls. Caldwell adapted several features of the barn to Florida weather: Run-off rainwater was channeled through waste troughs running the length of the barn. The cupola or vent on the roof drew off the summer heat. Caldwell’s workers planted special grasses of different varieties so the cows could graze year-round. A water tower provided water for the cows to drink.

Millard Fillmore Caldwell originally came from Tennessee. After service in World War I, he moved to Florida, practiced law, and purchased the Harwood Plantation as a dairy farm. In 1926 Caldwell served as prosecutor and county attorney of Santa Rosa County. In 1929 he was elected to the state legislature, where he served until 1932. In 1932 Caldwell won election to the U.S. House of Representatives from Florida’s third congressional district, re-elected through 1941. In 1944 Caldwell ran for governor of Florida. He took office in 1945, serving to 1949. He served as a member of the State Supreme Court from 1962 to 1964 and then as chief justice to 1969. He died in 1984. His daughter, Sally Caldwell MacLeod, and her husband, Fred McCord, gave the barn to the museum.

Lumber Industry—Colonial Period

Today, an archaeological site across Highway 1, under administration by the Agricultural Museum, contains an earthen dam that provided water power to operate the John Hewitt sawmill in the period 1770 to 1812. Hewitt bought one thousand acres of the surrounding woods in 1768 and set up the water-powered sawmill with slave labor. During the Patriot War of 1812–13, Americans from Georgia raided into Spanish-held Florida and burned the mill to the ground. The trail to the mill site passes directly over the dam that backed up a millpond. A small model of the mill on display at the rear of the Caldwell Dairy Barn shows how it operated for more than forty years.

Excavations in 1977 uncovered data used to construct the sawmill model. The mill had two “undershot” waterwheels: The larger provided power to move logs forward and to drive a reciprocating saw that cut a board off the log; the smaller water wheel then engaged to draw the log back for another pass across the saw blade. The mill could cut between 500 and 1,500 feet of lumber a day. The original mill site included a mule and oxen yard, a sawyer’s house, workers’ quarters, a blacksmith shop, and a carpenter’s shop. The large live oak trees not only provided excellent, nearly indestructible lumber for buildings, but for shipbuilding as well.

Slaves operated the mill. Other slaves and free workers used lumber from the mill to build numerous structures in St. Augustine. Travelers along the Kings Road from the indigo plantation of Dr. Andrew Turnbull at New Smyrna to St. Augustine made the mill a regular stop. The Kings Road crossed right over the milldam. John Hewitt shipped lumber from the mill by barge along Pellicer Creek, which flows just north of the museum grounds, or by wagon along Kings Road to St. Augustine, where he also operated a building business.

Cracker Farmstead
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Another classic cracker cabin with a separated kitchen across a dogtrot, the Whidden-Clark home was moved to the Agricultural Museum from a site about ten miles to the south.



The Whidden-Clark house, a stop on the wagon tour of the Agricultural Museum, shows life in a small Cracker farm. Outbuildings, sheds, and a corral shelter several Cracker cattle, noted for their small size and very short horns. A statewide association ensures that a pure bloodline of Cracker cattle is maintained, and the museum stock represents descendants of the Spanish cattle that roamed through unfenced Florida until 1950. They thrived on eating palmetto plants, which certainly look inedible. As proof of their strong stomachs, the museum’s cattle cleared all the palmetto plants from the corral themselves.
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Hardy Cracker cattle, descended from the Spanish stock, developed a small stature and a taste for palmetto leaves. A small herd is maintained at the Florida Agricultural Museum.



A Spanish hog named Sweet Pea greets visitors with a friendly grunt, awaiting handouts of feed.
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Sweet Pea, a Spanish hog at the Agricultural Museum, enjoys the attention of visitors.



Outbuildings and displays include a barrel well (lined with barrels—one atop another), a sugar-grinder and sugar-kettle display, a smokehouse, a chicken house and yard, and a sugar storage shed converted for blacksmith demonstrations.

The house itself originally stood about 60 miles away in southern Volusia County, between Osteen and Oak Hill, near Lake Harney. The building features a traditional “dogtrot” structure, with a separated kitchen across an open sheltered breezeway. In 1880 the Whidden family built a house of cypress and pine cut on the property, as a cattle camp. The Whiddens then sold the building to a former employee, Henry S. Clark. According to Clark’s great grandson, Henry built the board and batten house himself and the Clark family turned the land into a farm, living in the home from about 1900 until 1946 or 1947, adding glass and screens to some of the windows later, as well as the “tin” roof of galvanized steel. As late as 1996, the building remained in its original location, as documented by Dana Ste. Claire. When the museum moved the house to the present location, workers replaced the original rusted roof, added a front porch, and rebuilt the chimney.

Several features of the house and grounds reflect the Cracker lifestyle, including the sliding wooden windows, the wash-up area in the dogtrot breezeway, and the barren ground around the house, originally kept free of grass so that tracks of snakes and other creatures could be detected and to prevent the spread of brush fires to the house. A picket fence kept the free-ranging cattle out of the yard. Artifacts include a corn-sheller, a sugarcane knife, wooden gutters for collecting rainwater, a hand pump, and household furnishings. Some of the internal paneling shows “pecky cypress,” a rare type with interior cavities that appear as slots or streaks in the boards, now prized for interiors. Children would tie a piece of corn to a string, dangle it down in the open slots between the floorboards, and “fish for chickens.”

Black Cowboy Exhibit

A small structure was moved to the museum from the town of Espanola, on the Old Dixie Highway. Now open on the farm’s wagon tour, the museum presents a collection of saddles and a set of informational panels describing the life of black cowboys. The panels explain how African cowhands worked in Spain before the discovery of the New World, and how they continued the work in Florida. The cowboys had special tools, including the garroacha or cattle goad, used before the invention of the lasso or lariat. The cowboys also used a special knife on a long pole, the desjarretadera, to hock or hamstring a steer prior to branding it in the field. They used the same types of saddle, stirrups, and spurs in early Florida that they had used in Spain. Even after cowboys invented the lariat, Spanish saddles had no horn because it was nearly impossible to rope steers in the thick brush and hammocks of Florida. Spanish cow dogs, with descendants known as Cracker dogs, helped herd the cattle from the woods.

Panels explain how Seminoles and African Americans who had escaped slavery and lived among the Seminoles became cowboys. There are stories of several, including Juan Bautista Collins, who became a successful cattleman on his own. A map shows the locations of black homesteads in Spanish East Florida in the period 1784–1821. Another panel, with photographs of more than twenty modern black ranchers, shows how the family traditions of cattle-raising survived, slowly changing with high land prices, urban development, and seasons of dry weather that have set back all cattle ranching in Florida.

A saddle collection in the middle of the building shows the difference between modern saddles, used for quarter horses, and the much smaller and more narrow saddles used on Cracker horses. The collection includes a McClellan military-style saddle donated by the Caldwell-McCord family that once belonged to Governor Caldwell.

Commerce and Turpentine

The Traxler Commissary, another stop on the wagon tour, presents an impressively complete display of goods commonly sold in a commissary store. Guides explain how turpentine workers worked on a system not much different than the task system of slavery; that is, they got paid in proportion to how much pine tar they could bring in for rendering to pitch or into turpentine. Living in isolated camps in the pine forests, workers obtained their supplies from a store like this, which kept a tally of their debt. Only rarely could a turpentine worker make enough money to pay off his debt. Displays include the knives and pots used to collect the pine tar from the cut-away “cat faces” on the trees.
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A company store for turpentine workers provided post-office service, a wide variety of goods, and usually a running bill that consumed all the workers’ earnings.



William H. Traxler, son of settlers from South Carolina, built the commissary store. In the 1880s he acquired property in Alachua County on the Bellamy Road, opened a general store, and began farming. Prospering, he increased his holdings and enlarged the commissary to the scale shown here. He also served as postmaster, with the post office in the commissary from 1891 to 1906. At one time the town of Traxler had a one-room school, several tenant farm homes, a cotton gin and gristmill, and a church.


CHAPTER TWELVE

Fort Christmas Historical Park

Location: 1300 Fort Christmas Road, Fort Christmas

Driving Directions: From the east, take I-95 to Exit 215, go west on Highway 50 (Colonial Drive/Cheney Highway) 10 miles to Fort Christmas Road (route 420), turn right 2 miles to park entrance on the left. From the west, take Toll Road 408 east to Exit 23, turn right (east) on Highway 50, go 11 miles to Fort Christmas Road (route 420), turn left and proceed 2 miles to park entrance on the left.

Hours of Operation: Tuesday–Sunday, 9 A.M.–4 P.M. The tour of the pioneer homes is self-guided, but a staff member is present on site during these hours to answer questions.

Fees: Admission is free; guided tours for groups of 15 can be arranged by calling to reserve

Phone: (407) 254-9310

Things to See Nearby: Fort Christmas is about 96 miles from the Florida Agricultural Museum; no other Cracker sites are nearby.

History of the Site

M.M. Smith donated the first ten acres of the park to Orange County, June 30, 1930. The New Deal Works Progress Administration (WPA) built a picnic pavilion. The Orange County Parks and Recreation Department, with help from the Army Corps of Engineers, began construction in 1976. They built a full-scale replica of Fort Christmas, representing a nearby fort of the Second Seminole War. In December 1977, workers completed the project. Beginning in May 1990, the Fort Christmas Historical Society formed and helped develop a master plan to create a living history settlement to preserve the rural Cracker legacy of Orange County. The present-day Historical Park has pioneer structures located both north and south of the replica fort.

Special Events: Call to confirm exact dates, as schedule changes from year to year:

Cowboy Reunion: January. Local cowboys share experiences; covered dish picnic.

Bluegrass Festival and Craft Fair: Second weekend in March. Traditional bluegrass music; homemade crafts and barbecue.

Militia Encampments: Third weekend in March and the third weekend in November. Re-enactors in 1840s uniforms camp and present programs and weapon firing demonstrations in and near the fort.

Cracker Christmas: First weekend in December. Pioneer demonstrations, craft fair, exhibits, and food

Main Structures

At the entry to the park is a book and gift shop. Near the first parking area are three twentieth-century Cracker structures: Partin House (ca.1950); Union School (ca.1906); School Lunchroom (ca.1932).

The replica Fort Christmas, with a distinctive corner blockhouse, contains two museum rooms, one featuring a military storage facility, the other devoted to the history of the Seminole War.

The Reta Canada Barnes Resource Library (the “South Office”) lies to the south of the Fort. A sugarcane mill and sugar-rendering exhibit is nearby. The library contains works on Florida history and archival records regarding local history and the buildings on the site. Research visits by appointment only.

The village of early Cracker-era structures that have been relocated to the park sits behind a fence to the south in a separate five-acre enclosure. The gate is open during visiting hours. The seven restored pioneer homes relocated to the park are: Yates House, ca. 1875; Simmons House #2, ca. 1870s; Brown House, ca. 1900; Simmons House #3, ca.1915; Beehead Ranch House, 1917; Woods House, ca.1927; Wheeler-Bass House, ca. 1905.

Daily Life Through Structures and Artifacts

The buildings in the front, north end of the park—the Partin House and the school buildings—show aspects of early twentieth-century life.

Partin House. Like pioneer homes of an earlier era, the Partin House was built by the owner. Dixie Partin (1893–1977) and a friend, Bunk Harrell, built the house and a barn in the early 1950s. They cut and cured the pine from nearby woods and had it sawed to meet their specifications at Flower’s Lumber Company. The barn was made from hand-cut cypress poles that Partin had used in a log house he and his wife Emma had built earlier.
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Although built in 1950, after the Cracker era, this house was constructed by the owner in the Cracker tradition, using pine lumber from trees he cut down.



The small one-story house has a large number of rooms: kitchen, dining room, three bedrooms, a living room, and a small bath and laundry room. Ceilings and walls are tongue and groove knotty pine. Partin built the cabinets out of leftover timber he had sawed at the Bithlo sawmill for a never-built boat. He had help from Bunk Harrell and Vance May in making the cabinets. The furnishings of the house include many items that older visitors may remember from their own childhood or youth, including an electric refrigerator with external coils on the top, toys in the children’s bedrooms, and living room furnishings, lamps, and dishes from the 1950s. An outdoor shed contains two tractors, a 1951 Farmall Cub by International Harvester and a 1949 Ford 8N. Plaques give details of the two tractors.

Union School. The 1906 schoolhouse was known as a “union” school because it brought together several small, family-operated schools in the area, but it was popularly known as “The Fort Christmas School.” The main building contains one large room, and across a breezeway or dogtrot a smaller room in the rear, built in the 1920s. The community added a large stage in the main room in the late 1930s and held social events there in the evenings. Exhibits include children’s desks, typewriters, and schoolroom equipment from the early decades of the twentieth century. The school closed in 1969.
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The Fort Christmas School served the area until 1969.



Lunchroom. Before the addition of the lunchroom about 1932, children brought their own lunches from home in buckets or baskets and ate out-of-doors, weather permitting. The lunchroom was built to provide shelter from the rain. Late in the 1930s the county school district hired a cook and cook’s helper to make hot lunches. A plaque in front of the school lists the names of the cooks and helpers. Today the building is used to display a wide variety of stoves, kitchen implements, and utensils, most of them unfamiliar to the youth of today. These include early wood and gas stoves and displays that explain ironing and laundry or wash day. Other items reflect fruit and vegetable jar canning, sausage making, the operation of a wood stove and oven, and butter and bread making.
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A step in modernization was the move from irons heated on a wood-burning stove to this kerosene-fired iron that did not require heating up the kitchen in the summer.
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Pioneer kitchen equipment on view in the school includes this wood-fired stove and ironware display.



Storehouse Museum in the Fort. The fort is devoted to the history of the Seminole War and provides a good example of fort construction. The storeroom museum contains a display of woodworking tools used in log construction, as well as labels describing the sorts of food supplies kept in the structure. The long list of tools and supplies required by such an “advanced depot” is impressive, ranging from nails and horseshoes, saddles, and tools to basic food items including beef, corn, beans, and rice.

Sugar Mill and Rendering Exhibit. An informative small exhibit near the entrance to the pioneer village section gives details on grinding sugarcane and boiling down the sugar juice into syrup. The mill here was a rotary mill usually turned by a mule. The squeezed juice was filtered through cheesecloth to a barrel, then heated in the shallow kettle to boil off the water. After hours of careful skimming and steady heating to avoid scorching the syrup and to remove impurities, five to ten gallons of juice might render just one gallon of syrup.
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This Fort Christmas exhibit includes a sugar-rendering kettle and text panels inside the shelter that explain the process.



Early Pioneers. Plaques and displays at the entrance to the five-acre pioneer village explain that homesteading in Florida was given a boost in 1842 when Congress enacted the Armed Occupation Act, which provided land grants to settlers who pledged to protect themselves from Seminoles who resisted deportation to Indian Territory. The settlers came by boat (many up the St. Johns River) or overland by ox carts. The land on which the village has been reconstructed had been cleared of longleaf pines. Archaeological finds of clay drip cup shards showed that the pines had once been tapped for sap to make turpentine. Settlers had also planted orange trees of several kinds, tangerines, and grapefruit. Several that have survived winter freezes still grow along the south fence of the village lot.

The seven pioneer homes that have been moved to the spot date from about 1873 to about 1937, and a map shows their original nearby locations. The collection is one of the best in the state. All the homes were built by the families, in the Cracker tradition of homemade homes. As the families grew, they added rooms. As time went on building techniques and materials changed.

The area around Fort Christmas had first been settled at the end of the Civil War in the mid 1860s. Settlers raised cattle and hogs, hunted alligators, and trapped bears, otters, and raccoons. The St. Johns River provided a plentiful supply of fish as well as a route to settlements where manufactured goods could be obtained by trade.
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Heavy-duty farm wagons like this were necessary on Florida’s sandy roads well into the twentieth century.



Exterior exhibits include a cow camp, a vegetable garden, and a chicken coop. Special exhibits inside the houses show other aspects of pioneer life. The village consists of the seven pioneer homes, and their contents show a wide variety of aspects of daily life in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, with a focus on home lifestyle. Inside some of the houses special displays relate to ranching, textile work, the local post office, and hunting, fishing, and trapping.

Beehead Ranch House, 1917. The name of the ranch derived from the Cracker term for trees that contained bees’ nests: “beeheads.” The area that included this ranch house had numerous live oak trees with bee nests that provided honey. Local labor from the Tosohatchee Ranch Company, a large 19,000-acre ranch, built this structure as residence for the ranch foreman and his family. Soon after the foreman’s house was built, a group of hunters from Sanford and Orlando purchased the ranch and used the house as a hunting clubhouse. The club sold the land to the state in 1977 and it now forms the Tosohatchee State Reserve. The Fort Christmas pioneer village acquired and moved the building in 1993. The interior of the building is furnished to reflect early twentieth century cattle ranching. Among the exhibits inside is a listing of cattle brands and an illustrated cabinet of local cattle earmarks showing how cows’ ears were cropped to identify their owners. Some of the marks date back to the late 1800s and others are as late as 1954. The marks include several from different members of the Redditt, Canada, and Tucker families, all ranchers in the area.

Simmons 2 House, ca. 1870s. George Washington Simmons and his wife, the former Ann McDougald, settled at Taylor Creek near Fort Christmas in 1873, with eight children. The Simmonses farmed and raised livestock. They started this one-room house, adding to it with connecting rooms, covered porch, and breezeways.

Yates House, ca. 1890s. John Burl Yates and his wife, Polly Canada, both born in the mid 1870s, lived on a homestead on Taylor Creek when they first married. For their first house, they converted an old shed and cooked their meals out in the open. They herded cattle and wild hogs from the woods, hunted deer and turkey, and kept a vegetable garden. After John “Bud” Yates died in 1923, his sons added an indoor kitchen in the house for their mother. The kitchen has a gray marl clay and stick fireplace and chimney found in many Florida pioneer homes. In the absence of fired bricks, the mud provided mortar that kept the wood structure from catching fire. The Yates boys got the clay from a local deposit in the Taylor Creek area.

Brown House, ca. 1900. Ephraim Legrand Brown, born in Georgia in 1859, moved to Florida in 1875, where he first worked as a surveyor. In 1882 he married Julia Roberts and then purchased a forty-acre plot of land where he built a log home and planted orange trees. The original log house burned down, and the Browns lived in the barn while he built this building, using some of the charred logs from the original house as floor joists. His orange grove continued to bear fruit for over a century.
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The Brown House at Fort Christmas is a good example of the “two-pen” style Cracker home. A second room was added across a central breezeway or dogtrot.



Simmons House, ca. 1915. This home contains period furnishings and a room devoted to the history of the Fort Christmas post office, which was maintained for decades in private homes. The house has a separated kitchen and dining structure, characteristic of many early Florida pioneer homes and found in other Cracker villages. With wood stoves, the separate kitchen reduced the risk that a fire might spread to the main house. The separate building includes among its unique artifacts a hand-pumped Dexter clothes washing machine.
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This home has an entirely separate kitchen to the rear, as in many Cracker homes. Washtubs hang on the wall.



Woods House, ca. 1927. Thomas Jefferson Woods and his wife Katie lived in a palmetto thatched lean-to prior to moving into this house they completed in 1927. The house started with three rooms—a large front room and two bedrooms with porches around three sides. They later enclosed areas of the porch to make an additional L-shaped two-bedroom area that now contains a sewing machine, crib, and early washstand. Jefferson learned to hunt and fish as a youngster, and he made a living as an adult selling alligator hides and possum, raccoon, and otter skins. He also worked as a guide, taking city dwellers on hunting and fishing expeditions along the St. Johns River, where he earned tips and a share of the catch. A small room now contains a display on hunting, trapping, and fishing with trophies, photos, and equipment.
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Woods House. T. J. Woods made a living hunting, fishing, and trapping in the Fort Christmas area. The Woods house contains related displays.



Wheeler-Bass house, ca. 1915. Jim Wheeler first built this structure as a barn, but then converted it to a home, with two rooms on the first level and a small sleeping loft above. The first floor has an eat-in kitchen and a single bedroom. The kerosene kitchen stove, preserved vegetables, and other artifacts reflect simple life in the era. Like many other early Florida homes, this one had no glass windows, but board shutters with slats that could be opened for light and air. Mosquito nets hang over the beds, essential without windows or screens.

The outside structure of pioneer cabins was often board and batten, but in this case, instead of batten strips covering the vertical joints, narrow wooden shingles and planks give a unique look.


[image: Image]

James Hughlette Wheeler, born in 1901, slept in the loft of this tiny house as a child. As an adult, he became a world-renowned sculptor of horses, including a statue of Seabiscuit displayed at the Santa Anita track in Arcadia, California.



Jim Wheeler’s son (who probably slept in the loft, represented now by a mannequin up the narrow staircase) always sketched cattle and horses as a child. Young Hughlette Wheeler went on to study art in Paris and later became famous as a sculptor.


TAMPA BAY REGION

CHAPTER THIRTEEN

Heritage Village

Location: 11909 125th Street North, Largo

Driving Directions: From I-75 take I-275 east across Tampa Bay, follow 688 (Ulmerton Road) west to 125th street. The village is on the left. From U.S. 19, follow 688 (Ulmerton Road) west as above.

Hours of Operation: Wednesday–Saturday 10 A.M. to 4 P.M., Sunday 1–4 P.M.; closed December 25 and the day after Thanksgiving.

Fees: No charge; donations accepted

Phone: (727) 582-2123

Things to See Nearby: The Heritage Village is adjacent to the Florida Botanical Gardens (with more than 20 distinct gardens on 150 acres), and the Florida Gulf Coast Center for Fishing and Interactive Museum.

History of the Site

Similar to several other assembled historic villages in Florida, the park traces its origin to the Bicentennial year, 1976. In that year the Pinellas County Historical Society donated the land for Heritage Village, which opened in 1977 on a ten-acre site. Over the years some of Pinellas County’s oldest buildings have been moved to the site or reconstructed or rebuilt there, with the mission of allowing residents and visitors to literally touch the area’s history. Although the present 21-acre Heritage Park provides examples of Cracker architecture and culture, the mission of the park extends to representing the whole social and cultural history of the county. So the park has structures reflecting the lives of prosperous seasonal property owners, cottage and seasonal visitors, entrepreneurs, and professionals, as well as Cracker families, homesteaders, and other people of moderate means.

Special Events: Dates of annual events change from year to year, so visitors should check by phone or Internet for specific days.

January: Pinellas Folk Festival

June: Antique Appraisal Fair—appraisals of personal antiques

October: County Jubilee—giant flea market

November: Farm City Day

December: Holiday Traditions

In addition, the village hosts a series of lectures in the spring entitled “Speaking of History,” usually presented on the third Sunday of every month from February through May. A workshop on historical writing has previously been offered, conducted four times a year and focusing on the writing of historical novels. In 2012 and 2013 they were led by author Angela Pisaturo. These and other special programs change from time to time in topic and timing.

Main Structures

The village has nineteen major buildings (as of this writing; more are added from time to time) and at least eight outbuildings and other structures (such as a windmill, a caboose, and a sugarcane mill). Docents and guides are usually present for tours in two or three of the buildings, especially the House of Seven Gables, the H.C. Smith Store, and the McMullen House. Times for such docent-guided tours should be checked at the Visitor’s Center. Other buildings are open for self-directed tours.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Heritage Village explicitly emphasizes four “enduring historical themes:” Tourism, Coastal Living, Community Life, and Agriculture.

Tourism in Florida has very early origins. Park literature notes that the history of Pinellas County as a “getaway destination” traces back to 1885 when St. Petersburg earned a reputation as “Health City,” noted at a medical convention held that year in New Orleans. Visitors from the North had been coming to Florida for their health ever since the territory was acquired from Spain in 1821. However, tourists in greater numbers began arriving in Pinellas County by the Orange Belt railroad line opened to St. Petersburg in 1887. Later tourists coming by Model T cars and Greyhound buses led to St. Petersburg’s special reputation in the North. The city hosted some 250,000 winter visitors by the 1950s, while Clearwater’s white beaches attracted beachcombers, shell-collectors, and fishermen. Model-T Ford families, known as “tin can tourists,” as well as property-owning winter residents, took the reputation of the area home to the Northeast and Midwest.

The Coastal Living theme refers to Bahamians, Key West Conchs, and Greeks, who developed sponge beds near Tarpon Springs in the 1870s, and later entrepreneurs who, from the 1890s on, developed commercial fishing, boat-building, sport fishing, sailing, and other recreational water activities.

The Agriculture theme is represented here by the “three C’s”: cotton, cattle, and citrus. Before the Civil War, planters raised Sea-Island cotton in the region. Throughout Central Florida and extending into nearby Pinellas County, cattle ranching produced fortunes in the period following the Civil War. Farmers also raised sugarcane and truck-garden vegetable crops. Citrus groves received a great boost with the opening of the railroad to the region, allowing shipment of oranges and grapefruit to the North. The museum adjacent to the Visitor’s Center has excellent displays of the agricultural heritage, with a special focus on the citrus groves and the other early enterprises of the region.

The Community Life theme at Heritage Park refers to commerce, education, religion, and social gathering places developed over the years.

Heritage Park literature and the plaques outside the structures show the linkage between each exhibit and the themes, the date and location of the original construction and the date of its move to the park, along with details of the owners and occupants of the different homes. Specific displays relate to each of the four themes as detailed below.

Coastal Living

The Boyer Cottage, built in 1878, was moved to the park in 1978, just after the village opened. The owner, Joshua Boyer, was a Bahamian native who moved to Key West as a teenager. On a fishing trip, he stopped at the small sponging settlement at Anclote where he met and married Mary Ormond, daughter of an early homesteader. He personally built the very small cottage and a livery stable. He began offering rooms for rent in his converted stable, and one of the guests was the Philadelphia industrialist Hamilton Disston, who bought property nearby and developed the community of Tarpon Springs. Legend has it that the name of the town derived from a remark by Mary Boyer that the tarpons could be seen springing from the waters of Spring Bayou. Boyer later served on the city council of that town. The tiny cottage, like Cracker homes of the era, has a wide front porch and board and batten single wall construction and is raised about a foot from the ground with a crawlspace below.
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Mary Boyer, who lived in this cottage in the 1880s, is reputed to have named the town of Tarpon Springs.



Another structure representing the seacoast way of life is the 1930s Sponge Warehouse. Park literature and museum displays explain the history of the sponge industry, which at its height in Tarpon Springs employed some 500 Greek sponge drivers. They and their families left their cultural imprint on the town, now famous for its Greek restaurants. The building was constructed in 1930 by Drosos Alahuzos to serve as headquarters for the wholesale sponge business he operated in Tarpon Springs for his family’s Philadelphia-based company.

Tourism

The gift shop is housed in a former beach cottage, built about 1930 and moved to the site in 1997. Originally located at Madiera Beach, the cottage was typical of the sort rented to tourists beginning in the 1930s. The cottages were designed to attract visitors seeking more modest prices than could be found in the large cosmopolitan hotels of St. Petersburg and Clearwater. Prior to World War II, a great proportion of tourists arrived from the North by rail. The railroad display, which includes a caboose and the 1907 Sulphur Springs railroad depot, help show the impact of the railroad on tourism.
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The Seaboard Coast Line caboose and the Sulphur Springs Rail Depot house railroading artifacts.



Agriculture

A building that closely reflects the Cracker heritage is the 1879 Moore House, the home of pioneers who came to the state from Kentucky in 1875. The small two-room home originally had full porches in both front and rear, and the structure follows the Cracker architectural style, with board and batten single-wall construction found throughout much of Florida. Near the house, the Heritage Village gardens produce traditional vegetable and flower crops.

Another pioneer home is that of James and Elizabeth McMullen, a one-and-a half story log home built originally in 1852. The sturdy structure was purchased in 1902, and it later became a home and office for Solomon and Jessie Coachman, who operated a sawmill as well as a large citrus grove. They later opened a tourist store called “The Kumquat Shop” in the log cabin that became a popular stop for visitors on the trains.
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This pioneer log cabin became a popular stop for railroad tourists.



The 1888 Lowe House and the 1911–12 Lowe Barn reflect the life of a prosperous family who put money from a shipping business into a variety of crops and raised horses and cattle. In the 1940s Paul Randolph bought the property and also raised cattle and horses, using the barn to house cattle. As a cattle barn, the structure was rare in the state, as Florida did not require cattle to be fenced in until 1949.
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The Lowe family earned a fortune in shipping and then invested in farming.
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The Lowe cattle barn was a rarity in Florida in the era before the open range was closed in 1949.



A larger home, the Daniel McMullen house, built in 1868 on what is now Rosary Road in Largo, also reflects elements of the practical Cracker style, with a large and airy porch. The McMullen family, who set up a homestead in the early 1850s, grew cotton, sugarcane and vegetables. In the 1870s, Daniel McMullen converted some cotton acreage to citrus groves of both oranges and grapefruit. By 1890, the ranch had grown, with some 1,500 cattle. Daniel was also part owner of a mercantile store, the Farmers’ Alliance Exchange. He co-founded the Bank of Largo. The structure itself represents the lifestyle of a successful rancher family. Currently the building hosts a display of needlework, a loom, and related textile crafts.
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A successful pioneer, Daniel McMullen became a prominent rancher and built this comfortable home in Largo. The broad porch was characteristic of the era.



Another prosperous farmer was Jesse Walsingham, whose 1915 home now exhibits medical equipment from the period. Walsingham delivered ice, operated a meat and citrus packinghouse, and managed a hardware store. He became a leading truck farmer and headed the Largo Truck Growers’ Association in the 1920s.
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This structure was once the home of Jesse Walsingham, teacher, strawberry farmer, hardware businessman, and official of the Pinellas County Fair.




[image: Image]

Staffed by volunteer docents, this store stocks snacks and period displays reflecting the pioneer era.



Community Life

Different aspects of community life are reflected in structures ranging from the H.C. Smith Store, the 1912 Harris School, and the 1907 Seven Gables home that served for nearly twenty years as a boarding house and hotel. Guided tours of the House of Seven Gables often focus on the lifestyle of the wealthy Rockford, Illinois, family of David and Mary Starr, who built the house and lived in it for eleven years until 1918.

In 1925, Chester and Lucy Masslich opened a boarding house in the building they named Seven Gables Inn (a reference to the 1851 novel by Nathaniel Hawthorne, The House of the Seven Gables). The pitched roof does indeed have seven separate “gables” or angled peaks. The inn operated until 1943. The heart-of-pine wood structure proved extremely durable and easily survived its move by barge from Clearwater to the planned Heritage Village in 1976.
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Named after the house in Hawthorne’s 1851 novel, this large home built in 1907 served as an inn through the 1920s and 1930s.



Other buildings showing different aspects of community living include the 1905 Safety Harbor Church; the Plant-Sumner House, which housed a Methodist minister; the 1892 Safford Memorial picnic pavilion; the Union Academy building constructed during World War I, which served as a segregated school for African-American students; the 1894 Williams Park Bandstand; and a 1917 American Lafrance fire engine. Together these exhibits give a good impression of the social, economic, and community life of the growing communities of the area in the first decades of the twentieth century.
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Bandstands like this one often served as a focal point of community life in the Cracker era.
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This 1905 church is one of the exhibits of community life at the Largo Heritage Village.



Included as part of the Community Life exhibits is the Greenwood House, built in 1888 in Clearwater. The house, originally the home of a prosperous family, was moved from its original ocean-view spot in order to vacate the prime real estate area for more elegant homes. The house became a blue-collar home, occupied by a succession of families who worked in the citrus groves, on the railroad, or as tradesmen.

The Pram Display

The range of structures is constantly expanding as the very active Pinellas County Historical Society works with individuals and organizations to acquire new buildings as well as donations of artifacts. A planned addition includes a complete boat-building workshop and exhibit scheduled to open in late 2015.

The new building is to contain vintage boats and an assortment of materials that further relate to the county’s coastal history and heritage. While awaiting completion of the display, the Visitor’s Center housed two boats built by Clark Mills, including the Optimist Pram and the prototype for the family-sized Sun Cat. Other boats that may be acquired for the display are a Windmill and a Stripe, all small vessels locally constructed. The Pram has a history of its own.

The idea for the Pram took root in 1947, with plans for a “soapbox derby on water.” The Pram, similar to a short and deep rowboat, was made of marine plywood, less than 8 feet in length, costing less than $70 to build. Clark Mills, the designer, donated the copyright for the boat plan to the Clearwater Optimist Club. By the year of Mills’ death in 2001, more than 250,000 Optimist Pram boats had been built around the world.

The Optimist Club sponsored local races, with Prams skippered by boys and girls aged 9 to 14. At age 15, the youngsters moved up to the two-person racing dinghy, the Windmill. The fame of the local regattas grew, with boats entering from other states. Eventually, the International Sailing Federation recognized the Pram as one of only two sailboats approved for sailors under age 16. The Pram is sailed in more than 120 countries by over 160,000 children.

Discovering Heritage Village—The Official Souvenir Guide, on sale at the village gift shop, provides further detailed information about each of the structures and the families who lived and worked in them.


CHAPTER FOURTEEN

Cracker Country, State Fairgrounds

Location: State Fairgrounds, 4800 U.S. 301, Tampa

Driving Directions: From I-75, take Exit 260 to FL 574/Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd; turn right on FL 43/301. Fairgrounds are on the left.

Hours of Operation: Cracker Country is open to the general public only during the Florida State Fair, held every February. School tours are by appointment during the school year, Monday–Friday, 10 A.M.–2 P.M.; tours for adult groups may be arranged by calling ahead for reservations. Adult guided tours for groups of 10 to 25 are offered Tuesday–Friday starting at 1, 2, or 3 P.M., September 25–December 7 and March 12–May 10.

Fees: $7 Adults; $6 Seniors; $6 Students

Phone: (813) 627-4225

Things to See Nearby: Manatee Village, Bradenton

History of the Site

In 1978, Doyle E. Carlton Jr. and Mildred W. Carlton established Cracker Country as a rural Florida living history museum. Using the two-story Carlton house that had been built by Doyle Carlton’s grandfather as an anchor, more buildings from the period 1870–1912 were moved from all over Florida, with the facility first opening in 1979. Since then, additional buildings have been added.

Cracker Country’s history as a facility is similar in some ways to other Cracker villages. It was founded in the 1970s, during the bicentennial decade. Native Floridians’ concern to give emphasis to their roots had grown as the national image of Florida was increasingly shaped by the opening of Disney World and by the influx of northern retirees and “snowbirds.”

Despite its shared roots with other Cracker villages and sites, Cracker Country is somewhat unique. It is one of the largest and it contains the most diverse number of buildings. As a state facility set up on the state-owned fairgrounds, Cracker Country has been particularly shaped by state politics and state politicians. The first funding and the first building, the Carlton house, came from the family of Doyle E. Carlton, who served as Florida’s governor from 1929 to 1933. Later, the Terry store memorialized the family of Lawton Chiles, who served as U.S. Senator from Florida from 1970 to 1989, and on the insistence of supporters, ran for and was elected to serve as governor of the state from 1990 until his death in 1998. No other Cracker Village in the state contains buildings so closely tied to the families of governors. The Governor’s Inn at Cracker Country also reflects the focus on state government and its leadership.

As a state facility, however, Cracker Country is subject to the problems of state budget. The large facility is expensive to operate and maintain. As of 2014, its hours had been cut back to a schedule during the state fair and to specially arranged tours for school and adult groups.

Special Events: During the state fair, costumed interpreters present different nineteenth century occupations.

Main Structures

Carlton House. The 1885 Carlton house, built by Albert and Martha (McEwen) Carlton, stood in Hardee County, four miles west of Wauchula. It was the home of their ten children, including Doyle E. Carlton, Florida’s twenty-fifth governor. Doyle’s son, Doyle Carlton Jr., also grew up in the house, and it is he who arranged the creation of Cracker Country. The house was then owned by T. Mabry Carlton, who donated the building as the first structure on the Cracker Country grounds. The home has been redecorated with furniture and artifacts of the period 1885–1900.

Church. The church was built in Gretna, north of Tallahassee, in the early 1900s, after railroads opened the town as a center for turpentine works. The church had first served as a one-room school for African American children, but after the town church burned down, the school was reopened as a church in 1947.
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This small African American church later served as a one-room schoolhouse.



Governor’s Inn. This structure was built in 1912 in Lily, Florida, and served as a both post office and general store. It was donated by Mr. and Mrs. Pat Wilson of Frostproof. The building is used for meetings, and contains an exhibit of oil paintings of all of Florida’s governors.
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The Governor’s Inn displays portraits of Florida’s governors and reflects the Florida state focus of Cracker Country.



Okahumpka Train Depot. Built in 1898 as a depot in Lake County, the structure served a section of the Henry B. Plant Railroad system that ran from Tampa to Savannah, Georgia. The Seaboard Coastline Railroad system donated the building in 1978. The freight room has been converted to display a 500-square-foot model train display set up by model train enthusiasts Robert Nelson and Jim Hunter. The display reflects the types of equipment found on Florida lines around 1900


[image: Image]

Artifacts in the Okahumpa Railroad Station in Cracker Country at the State Fairgrounds include this schedule board.



Post Office. Originally located in Cumpressco, near the town of Webster, this cypress-built structure was donated in 1980.

Rainey Building. The Rainey store building dates to the 1880s, when it was built in Ona. When the railroad came through Ona in 1911, the little town became a major shipping and receiving point for the Hardee County region. The building served as a home of the Rainey family as well as a general store and post office. However, when U.S. Highway 17 came through Wauchula in the 1930s, Ona declined. The store continued in operation into the 1960s. In 1988, Reid and Gussie Rainey donated the store to Cracker Country. Today it represents a general store and displays commodities of the 1880s.
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The Rainey Building had served as a store and post office and as a private home in the town of Ona, in Hardee County.



School House. The school was built in 1910 in Castalia in DeSoto County, and operated as a school from 1912 to 1937. Built of durable heart-of-pine lumber, it replaced an earlier one-room log schoolhouse. The building was donated in 1980.

Smith House. The Smith House comes from eastern Pasco County. It had been built by the friends and neighbors of Daniel H. and Elizabeth Geiger Smith, married in 1894. Reputedly the total cost of materials for the house was $15 for ironwork, as the lumber was all harvested on-site, and the house went up in three days through volunteer labor. The house, like many Cracker homes, had a separate kitchen, which has not been reproduced here. The Smiths raised four sons in the house and made a living gathering hogs from the woods and driving them on foot into Tampa to sell. The Smith’s grandson, Willie Smith, donated the house, and it was relocated to Cracker Country in 1979.

J.R. Terry Store. The store building was built by the grandfather of Lawton Chiles, who served as Florida’s governor from 1990 until his death in 1998. The building had been purchased by Jack Roundtree (“J.R.”) Terry and his wife, Maude Sparkman Terry in 1920, and it operated as a general store in Fort White until 1988. The Terrys’ sons, Jimmy and Billy Terry, donated the store to Cracker Country in 1992.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

In addition to the main structures, the many smaller exhibits include a blacksmith shop, smokehouse, candle shed, well, kitchen garden, corn crib, chicken coop, outhouse, syrup kettle, cane mill, and “hands-on” farm. An outdoor seating area is arranged to provide an amphitheater for presentations to groups.
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School groups and visitors watch demonstrations of pioneer skill in the center of Cracker Country.



The exhibits, tools, and presentations by interpreters give insights into some of the trades and crafts of pioneer days. The blacksmith shop is used to demonstrate the making of plow heads, horseshoes, stirrups, and bits. Household items and hardware include nails, hinges, pokers, knives, and pot hooks. The shop is not an original building, but is an accurate replica of a smithy from about 1900.

At the cane mill, interpreters explain how oxen or mules would turn the mill to squeeze juice from sugarcane stalks and later render it in kettles like the 80-gallon one on display. The mill and kettle here were donated by Hillsborough County resident Charlie Knight.

The kitchen garden behind the Carlton House shows some of the plants raised, including corn, summer squash, beans, and peas, grown in the spring, and more heat-tolerant plants like cowpeas, sweet potatoes, and okra, grown in the summer. Fall crops that could stand occasional light frost included onions and cabbage and turnip, mustard, and collard greens. Only “heirloom” plants—that is, original varieties—are grown in the kitchen garden. Plans for the hands-on farm include replicating aspects of African American life in early Florida.

A detached kitchen comes from the DeSoto County childhood home of Florida State Senator Henry G. Murphy, who represented Zolfo Springs in the state senate in the 1930s. However, the kitchen building is now used to display antique printing presses that are operated during demonstrations, producing cards and stationery from the hand-operated equipment.

Other displays and explanations by interpreters cover such crafts and occupations as railroad telegrapher and station master, school teacher, cow-hunting, rope-making, soap and candle making, smoking meat, wood-carving, and household care. Demonstrations vary depending on availability of volunteers and staff.


CHAPTER FIFTEEN

Manatee Village

Location: 1404 Manatee Avenue East, Bradenton

Driving Directions: From north or south, Exit I-75 at Exit 224, proceed west on 301/13 (10th Street East), turn left on Tamiami Trail (Route 301/41 South), cross bridge and turn left on 6th Avenue; proceed about 7/10 of a mile to Manatee Village on right.

Hours of Operation: Monday–Friday and second and fourth Saturdays: 9 A.M.–4 P.M.; closed Sundays and major holidays

Fees: Admission is free; donations accepted

Phone: (941) 749-7165

Things to See Nearby: Gamble Plantation. Note that the route suggested above passes by Gamble Plantation on Route 301/13 in Ellenton.

History of the Site

Manatee Village opened July 4, 1976, the result of efforts of local residents to honor the local heritage. Two women associated with the Methodist Episcopal Church, Norma Carter and Willa Mae Gaines, got together with their neighbors to initiate the effort. They formed a group called “HOME”—Heritage of Manatee Environment—that got things under way. With the Wiggins Store and surrounding acreage, together with city-owned property leased for a dollar a year for a hundred years, the park took its present shape of about four and a half acres.

Special Events (call to confirm specific dates, as they change slightly every year)

February: Manatee City History Day—to coincide with National History Day.

March: Third Saturday. Heritage Days Open House

October: Spirit voices from old Manatee featuring costumed interpreters in the cemetery

December: Florida Cracker Christmas

Main Structures

The site contains fifteen buildings or exhibits: Old Cabbage Head Engine; Wiggins Store, with museum; Boat Works; Blacksmith Shop; Turpentine Still; Smokehouse; Will Stephens House; Outhouse; Potter Barn; Old Meeting House—Methodist Episcopal Church 1887; Gazebo; First Courthouse; Bunker Hill School; Cow Hunter’s Bunkhouse on 7th Avenue East; Manatee Burying Ground on 15th Street East.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Manatee Village structures and its artifact collection focus on pioneer life in Manatee County, with exhibits touching on home life, cattle ranching, the timber and turpentine industries, commerce, boat-building, blacksmithing, and sugar milling. The Meeting House, Courthouse, and Schoolhouse all show the simple facilities of the pioneer era for religion, justice, and education.

Household. The Stephens House (formerly known as the “settler’s house”) was originally built in 1912 and is typical of the Cracker Gothic style. The Stephens building design features a large, high-ceilinged central hallway that provides natural air conditioning. Original bricks in the fireplace and original flooring are from the 1912 structure. The furnishings are not from the Stephens family, but do represent the inside of such a home from the period just before and after World War I—1910 to about 1935.
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Identified by architectural historian Ronald Haase as a classic Cracker home, the Stephens House contains carefully selected artifacts from the era.



The home was acquired by the International Mineral Corporation when it purchased the homestead for mining, and the corporation donated the building to the Manatee County Historical Commission. In order to move it to the site in 1982, workers cut the structure into five parts. The building was reassembled and opened to the public in 1984. The village has carefully limited the collection of authentic period artifacts in the home to represent the actual appearance of a home of the era.

Transportation. The “Cabbage Head” nickname of the engine on display at the entrance to the Manatee Village derived from the shape of the railroad engine’s bulbous smokestack, designed to catch sparks and embers from the wood-burning engine. The Baldwin Locomotive Works in Philadelphia built this engine in 1913 for the Taylor County Lumber Company. Many of the early lumber companies built private rail lines for transport of timber to the mills. The Manatee Nocccatee Crate Mill Company brought the engine to Manatee County in 1948, but four years later the company went out of business. For years the engine was a local landmark, painted with a “Welcome to Bradenton” sign on the tender (fuel) car. The Manatee Village Historical Park acquired the engine in 2002, and the Bradenton Kiwanis Club funded the relocation of the engine to its present site.
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A community landmark for decades, this engine marks the entrance to Manatee Village.



A nearby marker points out that the village is at the westernmost point of the official Florida Cracker Trail, designated by the Florida Legislature in 1987. The trail represents a route used by cattlemen to drive their herds from the interior through five counties from Fort Pierce to Bradenton along what are now portions of U.S. highways and local roads. Cattle were loaded aboard ships at the McNeil and McKay Wharf at Shaw’s Point in Bradenton (and other points on the Manatee River) and at Punta Russa (near the mainland side of the bridge from Fort Myers Beach to Sanibel Island) for shipment to Key West or Cuba.
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Frederick Remington’s Cracker cowboys were scruffy, but probably an accurate depiction. Harper’s Magazine



Commerce. King Wiggins built this store here in 1903, and it served as a general store with rooms for customers traveling overland to stay overnight. With guests and customers, the spot became a gathering place where people would gossip, listen to the phonograph, and play games. Wiggins included many practical features in the building besides the facilities for overnight stays: wide porches and double-layered brick walls to provide cooler inside temperatures, a phonograph for entertainment, and even one of the area’s first elevators (no longer in operation.)
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The K. W. Wiggins store served as hotel, post office, general store, and meeting place. Today it houses the headquarters of Manatee Village.



The building changed hands and later hosted a hotel, barbershop, and apartments. It was condemned in 1983, but after a fundraising campaign, it opened to the public in 1990 as a replica of a country store, with a gift shop and headquarters for Manatee Village.
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The front room of the Wiggins store contains historical displays of goods like these. The modern shop in a back room sells souvenirs and books.



The Wiggins Store includes exhibits of merchandise found in a general store around 1900. The second floor has exhibits on cattle brands, saddle making, a hotel room, and ladies’ garments, as well as the park offices. The building has an exhibit of U.S. post office boxes, originally located at Oneco, Florida.

Local Industry: boat building. John, William, and Bartholemew (“Tole”) Fogarty settled in Manatee County after John Fogarty’s fishing boat, the Grover C. King from Key West, blew into the Manatee River during a storm in 1865 and sheltered there until the weather cleared. The Fogartys like the spot and began a boat-building and repair business, settling on a land grant along the Manatee River between 26th and 37th Streets West. Their neighborhood became known as Fogartyville.

The family produced a total of seven ship captains who sailed out of Manatee River and Tampa Bay for ports around the world. The son of Tole, known as “Bat” Fogarty, became a well-known boat builder with a career that spanned six decades from 1884 to 1944. His family willed the boatyard to the public in 1993. With volunteer labor, the structure was moved to the Manatee Village site and opened to the public in 1995.

The tools and equipment inside the Boat Works, particularly the belt-driven machines, reveal how steam power would be transmitted to bench tools, while the nearby Blacksmith Shop shows the traditional hand tools, including forge, anvil, and hammers for bending and working iron.

Local Industry: turpentine. Turpentine stills found throughout the pinelands of Florida included a large kettle like the one here, together with other equipment such as a condenser and troughs.
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This partially restored turpentine rendering works represents one aspect of Florida’s pioneer workways.



Local Industry: sugar. The smokehouse and syrup kettle were part of the Andrew and Lettie Wingate homestead on the eastern stretch of the Manatee River, donated to the Village by Thomas G. and Harvey E. Hayden. The rotary mule-powered sugar mill would usually have a low end to the sweep for hitching to the horse or mule. The juice would be collected and boiled down in the syrup kettle.

Local Industry: cattle and livestock. The Potter Barn is a copy of the original livestock barn on the property of John Hope Hardee, a few miles north of Palmetto. The barn is named for Rodney Potter, who was an active supporter of Manatee Village. Potter provided the lumber and other materials for the barn at a deep discount.

The Cow-hunter’s Bunkhouse was originally on the H. Wildes Harrison Ranch, located between U.S. 301 and Moccasin Wallow Road in Parrish. As a child in 1901, H. Wildes rode into the Palmetto area with his mother aboard a covered wagon from Alachua County. As an adult, he developed the ranch, with improved pastures and cattle, later expanding from a small butcher shop in Palmetto into a major meat-packing plant near Parrish.
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This reproduction of a Cracker-era small barn next to the Stephens House was funded by Rodney Potter.



The small, two-story bunkhouse is set up as if the cow hunters had just left to go to work, giving a picture of the life of Florida’s Cracker cowboys. The structure, without plumbing or other amenities, was typical of the small buildings housing cow hunters that were dotted through the mid-state cattle ranges. The little shacks gave shelter against rain, snakes, and mosquitoes.

The key to the bunkhouse can be obtained from the office in the Wiggins Store building. Displays of saddles, whips, and cattle brands on the second floor of the Wiggins Store also help tell the story of cattle catching and branding.

Justice. The First Courthouse structure served not only as a courthouse, but also as church, parsonage, and a social hall, as well as a private residence. It is now set up as a courthouse from the period 1860–1866. State archive records show that the courthouse is the oldest county courthouse building in the state. The structure originally stood two and a half blocks north of the Village in Bradenton on 15th Street East, in “Courthouse Square.” The judge’s desk is the original made by Josiah Gates, donated by his great-granddaughter. The benches and tables are replicas. In 1975, the Manatee United Methodist Church gave the courthouse building as well as the 1887 Methodist Church to the Village, part of the first set-up of the Village.
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This 1887 church forms a centerpiece of Manatee Village.



Education. Built in 1908, the one-room school building in Bunker Hill, Florida, originally hosted a class of first through eighth graders, with as few as ten students and as many as twenty-five. The school remained in service until 1929. Benjamin David (“B.D.”) Gullett, a teacher, purchased the school building and moved it to his property near Duette, where it served as his home and that of his daughter, Sallie Gullett Bradley, from 1929 to 1989. Mrs. Bradley donated the school to the park in 1989 as a memorial to her father.

Religion. Originally located two and a half blocks away, the Old Meeting House Methodist Episcopal Church (1887) was moved to the Village in 1975 and restored in 1976 as a bicentennial project, the first structure brought to the Village. The meeting house represents the oldest congregation of any denomination south of Tampa on the mainland of Florida.

The Old Meeting House has numerous features typical of nineteenth century Protestant churches, including the vaulted ceiling, original pews collected from churches in the area, a stained glass star window with a six-pointed star (known as the “Star of Creation” in Protestant churches and the “Star of David” in the Jewish religion). When the church was moved, workers found the kindergarten Sunday school chairs stored in the rafters. Other items, such as the wall sconces, altar table, pulpit, and altar rails are reproductions of period pieces. The church is still used for weddings, baptisms, memorial services and other events.
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The fully restored church is still used for weddings and other ceremonies.



The simple lines, plain features, and hard wooden seats of the Bunker Hill School, the Old Courthouse, and the Old Meeting House, together with the simple furnishings of the Cracker Gothic style Stephens Home, give young visitors a lasting impression of social and home life as lived a century ago.

Across 15th Street, just to the east of the main village grounds, lies the Manatee Burying Ground cemetery. The graveyard, set up in 1850, is the oldest organized burying ground on the Gulf Coast of Florida. Since 1892, only family members of those already buried in the cemetery can be interred there. Many of the original families represented in the burying ground attended the 1887 Methodist Church, now located on the Village grounds.


CHAPTER SIXTEEN

Crowley Museum and Nature Park

Location: 16405 Myakka Road, Sarasota

Driving Directions: From I-75, take Exit 210, Fruitville Road, 10 miles east to the end; turn right on Myakka Road. Crowley is 3 miles, on the left. Watch for signs as Myakka Road takes two turns.

Hours of Operation: Thursday–Sunday, 10 A.M. until sundown

Fees: Adults $6.50; Seniors $4.50; Children 5-12; $2.00; under 5, no charge

Phone: (941) 322-1000

Things to See Nearby: Manatee Village, Bradenton.

History of the Site

Work on the site began in 1968 on twenty acres of land donated by retired teacher W. Jasper Crowley to the Florida Audubon Society to serve as a memorial to Florida pioneers. The land had been settled by Jasper’s grandfather, John Crowley, who moved from Pennsylvania in 1875 and established a smithy on the old Pine Level Road. He had traveled to the Myakka area by schooner from Philadelphia to Fernandina, then by the railroad to Cedar Key, and from there to Bradenton by boat.

The Florida Audubon Society transferred the property to the Myakka Audubon Society and Jasper Crowley granted that organization another 155 acres of land. The local society helped organize a nonprofit corporation that assembled buildings on the site, constructed a boardwalk through the hammock land, and began collecting items to add to those donated by Jasper Crowley, including a spinning wheel, wagons, guns, furniture, and tools. Edina Truchot, who served as the park’s naturalist until her death in 1976, donated another five acres. With other donations, the property has expanded to about 190 acres.

The Tatum House, built in the period 1888–92, is one of the oldest, and perhaps the oldest rural structure in Sarasota County. The Albritton family donated the house to the Crowley center in 1996.

The Tatum Ridge schoolhouse was closed in 1941, when Miakka Elementary School and Tatum Ridge School consolidated into the Fruitville Elementary School. Jasper Crowley had served as first principal of the consolidated school.

Special Events

Second weekend in February: Annual heritage fest with civil war skirmishes, cowboy shootouts, working cowboys, crafts, children’s area, antique car show, farmers; market, re-enactors, blacksmithing, Cracker cows and horses, pony rides, and live music.

During March and April, evening “full moon walks” are scheduled. Call or check the Internet for specific dates.

Main Structures

The Crowley center has these buildings: Tatum-Rawls House; Homestead cabin; Sugar mill and kettle; Visitor Center and Store (with attached blacksmith shop); Museum building; and Tatum Ridge School (about 1/6 of a mile behind the Tatum House on the Children’s Discovery Path).

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

At the entrance to the Crowley property, the road forks to right and left. To the left, the road takes the visitor to the pioneer settlement just described; to the right, the road leads to another facility, the Crowley Folk School. That school presents classes in traditional arts, crafts and homestead skills along with sustainable agriculture practices. Workshops are held on weekdays and Saturdays in the Edna Truchot Learning Center or at the pioneer settlement area in the blacksmith shop or other pioneer buildings, in the organic garden, or on nature trails through the property.

As the name indicates, the Crowley Museum and Nature Center has a dual mission, reflecting the wishes of Jasper Crowley: instilling a respect for the pioneer heritage, and at the same time providing a place where the natural environment of Florida can flourish undisturbed, to be observed and enjoyed by future generations.

Over the decades from its opening, the Crowley Museum and Nature Center has varied between its emphasis on the natural environment (a major concern of Jasper Crowley) and a focus on pioneer life. As a consequence, the facility offers not only glimpses of pioneer life, sugar refining, education, and home-life, but also several well-marked nature trails through the property.

Jasper Crowley himself built the Homestead Cabin, a one-room reconstruction, using wood that he had reclaimed from an original cabin built by his great uncle, Gus Crowley. The cabin is furnished with Crowley family heirlooms. Among features are the sparse living quarters, the outdoor working pump, and the large fireplace, giving a sense of the hardships faced by early pioneers.
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This cabin was built with materials from an original homestead to replicate pioneer life.




[image: Image]

The interior of the Homestead Cabin depicts pioneer living conditions.



The Tatum-Rawls House reflects the sort of home built in the 1880s and 1890s to house a large family. William H. Tatum married the widow Laura Rawls, who already had three daughters and two sons. She was the daughter of the first Baptist minister who settled in the Bee Ridge area in 1867. William Tatum and his two stepsons built the Tatum house in 1889.
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This bedroom in the Tatum-Rauls house now contains simple furniture typical of a successful, but not wealthy, Florida pioneer family of the 1880s and 1890s.



William and Laura had four daughters and three sons of their own. Eventually the house sheltered eleven children altogether.

Workers moved the structure to the site in 1996 and restored it to its 1892 appearance. At present, one small bedroom at the right front of the house is equipped to represent a schoolroom; the second floor is not accessible to visitors. A separate kitchen building has not been preserved. Cracker architecture features include the broad porch, the two-foot elevation off the ground, and front-to-rear ventilation.
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This home exhibits several typical Cracker features, including shaded porches and high elevation off the ground.
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One of the rooms in the Tatum House is set aside to demonstrate early school equipment.



The Museum structure presents artifacts, mostly collected by Jasper Crowley, arranged along the left side as they might appear in a general store. John Crowley and his son James Jeremiah ran a general store at the corner of Rawls Road and Myakka Road in the 1880s. The store building still remains at that intersection, though it is now boarded up.
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The Crowley Museum displays a wide variety of artifacts, including this baby buggy.



The right side of the museum contains other objects, including a baby carriage, furnishings, tools, and other materials donated to the center. At the rear of the museum is a small library containing works on Florida history and some scrapbooks of clippings and photographs of the Crowley Museum and Nature Center itself.

Following the self-guided trail takes the visitor to the old Pine Level Trail, which was a wagon trail that passed between the county seat at Pine Level (between Arcadia and Myakka City) to “Braidentown” (now Bradenton). Pine Level, which no longer exists as a community, briefly served as the county seat of the large Manatee County, which stretched from the Gulf Coast to Lake Okeechobee in the interior. Settlers used ox-carts, rode horseback, or simply hiked on foot along this trail.

A small folded self-guided trail booklet available at the Visitor’s Center provides a guide to the plants that can be seen on the trails through four different kinds of habitat: Tatum Sawgrass marsh, pine flatwoods, oak hammock, and swamp. The Boardwalk Trail section of the guide identifies plants including beautyberry, sabal palmettos, Carolina willow, Florida butterfly orchid, saw palmetto, and a wide variety of epiphytes including Spanish moss, resurrection fern, and orchids.
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Mule-powered sugar mills like this at the Crowley Museum are found at many of Florida’s pioneer village displays.



For some years, the farm was operated without any farm animals. Visitors, especially children, expected to see some livestock at the farm, so the park added several heritage breeds: Cracker cattle (one of ten certified Cracker cattle herds in the state), Cracker horses, and even Cracker pigs. Big Boy, a Cuban variety Cubalaya fighting cock, greets visitors.
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Big Boy, a Cuban rooster, greets you at the Crowley Museum and Nature Park.




NORTHWEST

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

Forest Capital State Park Cracker Homestead

Location: 204 Forest Park Drive, Perry

Driving Directions: From the center of Perry at the intersection of Highways 20/27 and 98, proceed south on Highway 98 (South Byron Butler Parkway) about one mile. The museum with the homestead is on the right (west) side of the road.

Hours of Operation: Thursday–Monday, 9 A.M.-5 P.M.; closed Christmas, Thanksgiving, and New Years’ Day

Fees: $2.00 for adults and children 5 and up; Children under 5 free

Phone: (850) 584-3227

Things to See Nearby: The museum and homestead are about 53 miles east of Tallahassee and are rather isolated from other sites related to the pioneer heritage.

History of the Site

The early economy of Northwest Florida was rooted in the forestry business. In 1965, Congressman Don Fuqua called Taylor County, which included more than 525,000 acres of forested land at the time, the “Tree Capital of the South.” To commemorate this concept, the Forest Capital State Park opened in 1968. In 1972, Grace H. Gibson, the wife of State Senator Pete Gibson, donated the Whiddon homestead to the park, and the Cracker homestead museum itself opened in 1974. Wiley W. Whiddon’s family had built the homestead in 1863.

Special Events: Blue grass festivals and other events are scheduled at the adjoining county grounds. Call ahead to check on dates.

Main Structures

Next to the park entrance and Visitor Center is a small museum devoted to the history and ecology of Florida’s forests and forest industries. A short path to the left of the museum leads to the Whiddon Homestead, a transplanted Cracker home. The grounds are surrounded by a split rail fence, and the house and its immediate yard are surrounded by a picket fence. Inside the picket fence are these: Whiddon House of squared logs with a semi-detached kitchen made with round logs; outhouse; pantry; well; arbor; dinner bell.

Outside the picket fence and within the split rail fence are these typical farm structures: chicken pen, barn, corncrib, cane grinder, smokehouse, and syrup kettle.

Some homesteads had a few fruit trees like the fig tree, wild plum, and pomegranate trees just to the left of the rear gate through the picket fence.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Museum

The museum’s exhibit with its focus on forest ecology and the history of timbering in Florida is well presented. A diorama shows workers collecting pinesap and rendering it into turpentine at a forest still. Panels and a video explain how the naval stores industry spread from Nova Scotia through the pinelands of coastal North America. By 1905, the slash pines and longleaf pines of Florida were being tapped. The early methods of gathering the sap tended to increase the exposure of pine trees to fire, leading to widespread deforestation. Other panels show how cut trees were carried to sawmills by rail. The tall pines were harvested for ship’s masts. Water-powered, and later, steam-powered sawmills operated across northern Florida. Statistics, photos, and text panels describe the harvesting of pine, oak, and cypress, while other panels focus on the ecology of the forest.
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Inside the forestry museum at Forest Capital State Park, dioramas depict the life of turpentine workers in the pioneer era.



The turpentine industry used methods that greatly weakened trees. Turpentine workers cut a herringbone pattern into the bark, directing sap flow downward to a cutout cup, called a “box,” that was carved directly in the tree. Panels explain how increased concern with conservation around 1900 led Dr. Charles Herty to introduce a clay pot, known as the “Herty cup,” to be used to collect the sap rather than the cutout box. The pot, very similar to a small flowerpot but with no hole in the bottom and with a hole near the lip by which to hang it on the tree, increased gum yield, reduced waste, made collecting more efficient, and proved far less harmful to the trees.

The Whiddon Homestead

The Whiddon cabin is a classic Cracker design. It features a wide central breezeway or dogtrot, overhanging front and back porches, and two stick-and-clay fireplaces for heating the main house, with a third in the separated kitchen structure to the rear. The windows have no screens, but rather can be closed against cold or wet weather by shutters. Beds are enclosed in mosquito netting. The house is kept off the ground by large wedge-shaped piers and was built on a north-south axis to allow sunlight to hit three sides, helping to keep the structure dry. The wide porches could be partially enclosed as children were added to the family, providing separate sleeping rooms for boys and girls.
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Along with the Stephens house at Manatee Village, this building has been identified as “classic Cracker architecture,” demonstrating such features as a central dogtrot, wide porches, adaptation to the climate, and use of native materials.



The outer picket fence kept cattle and wild hogs from roaming into the yard. The sandy ground surrounding the home, within the picket fence, provided a fire-break in case of forest or brush fires. The raked sand could also reveal the tracks of any undesirable critters such as snakes.

The rooms at the Whiddon house contain furnishings that represent the home crafts and work of pioneers. A butter churn and a treadle sewing machine are positioned where “Granny” might have used them. On the back porch is a shaving horse, used to “rive” shingles or shakes for the roof. Rockers on the porch suggest moments of relaxation for the family and visitors.

The kitchen is made of round double-notched pine logs and, as was common in Cracker homes, stands apart from the main structure because of the fire hazard. A corner cupboard would house the family’s more valuable chinaware and medicines. Displays include herbs, cast-iron pots, an oak table, hand-made shelves, a pie-safe, and a corn sheller and a sausage stuffer that would both be used out on the back porch.

Features in the yard suggest other daily tasks. A long sweep or boom over the well allowed lifting water and transferring it to tubs on washday. The homestead has a hand-operated clothes wringer. The grape arbor carries Florida scuppernong grapes, which would be made into preserves, jellies, or wine, or just eaten fresh. The “pantry house” would be used to store preserved foods, as well as onions and potatoes. The outbuildings are typical of homesteader life. The chicken pen was designed not to keep the chickens in, but to keep predators out. A kitchen garden raised both summer and winter vegetables. The barn held hay, feed, farm tools, and saddles. Overhanging roofs shelter a buggy and a farm wagon, while the corncrib stored the animals’ feed and housed the collection of plows. Outbuildings include an outdoor toilet, while others relate to work, including the smokehouse for curing pork after the winter slaughter of one or two pigs.
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Outbuildings at Forest Capital State Park include this chicken house, typical of a small homestead.



The sugarcane grinder and iron syrup kettle would be busy after the first frost of the fall, when neighbors might come to assist in the work and receive bottles of syrup in exchange.

Classic Cracker Architecture Details

The Whiddon Homestead is featured in Ronald Haase’s work, Classic Cracker. Haase points out that homesteaders would first build a single-room log cabin, live in it, and then extend the roof-line over a breezeway or dogtrot and build a second “pen” or room as the family expanded. This expansion of living space created the classic double-pen structure. Haase chose the Whiddon home as one of the most beautiful surviving examples of this type of Cracker design.
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In the era before indoor plumbing, privies like this one were a necessary convenience.
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This structure sheltered feed, wagons, and equipment, but not livestock.



Other details identified by Haase include the notches at the corners, known as “half dovetails.” These cuts allowed all surfaces to slope towards the outside so that water would be shed and the exposed joints would stay dry. Many pioneer homes would extend the logs beyond the joints, so that rotten ends could be cut off as they developed. With flush-cut ends, corner boards, as used in the Whiddon home, could trim the house and protect the log ends from damp. The overhanging roof and porches also kept rain away from the logs. Chimneys were often built on the north-facing wall to help keep the log walls on that side dry, while sun would help dry out the east, south, and west sides of the structure. This and other vernacular building traditions showed that the early pioneers were “thinking typologically” in a “productive partnership with nature.” Ronald Haase also showed how several architects practicing in Florida in the post-modern late twentieth and early twenty-first centuries have learned from the pioneers to work with nature in similar ways.


CHAPTER EIGHTEEN

Tallahassee Museum

Location: 3745 Museum Drive, Tallahassee

Driving Directions: From I-10, take Exit 196, follow Capital Circle Northwest towards Regional Airport. From Capital Circle Northwest, take 371/Orange Avenue east to Rankin Avenue, turn right; Museum Drive and free parking are on the left. Note that some local signage indicates directions to the museum under one of its former names: “Tallahassee Museum of History and Natural Science.”

Hours of Operation: Monday–Saturday, 9 A.M.–5 P.M.; Sunday 11 A.M.–5: P.M. Closed Christmas, Thanksgiving, and New Years Day.

Fees: Adults $9.00; Seniors (65+) $8.50; College students (w/I.D.) $8.50; Children (4-15) $6.00

Phone: (850) 575-8684; recorded information line: (850) 576-1636

Things to See Nearby: The Tallahassee Museum is about 55 miles west of the Forest Capital Museum, and about 50 miles east of the Panhandle Pioneer Settlement.

History of the Site

A group of educators and interested citizens saw a need for children of Tallahassee and the region to enjoy hands-on experiences while learning about wildlife, nature, history, and culture. They established the Tallahassee Junior Museum, chartered July 24, 1957. With support from a variety of local organizations, the museum opened downtown in the McMillan house in 1958. In 1960, the museum board purchased ten acres of land on Lake Bradford with space for the preservation of regional buildings, beginning in 1961 with the creation of the Big Bend Farm exhibit, which remains the historic core of the museum’s displays. Located in the large and growing capital city of Florida, the museum is far busier than any of the other sites described in this guidebook, attracting many school groups during the week and numerous families on weekends.

The mission and content of the museum have changed over time. In 1962, four buildings opened: the Phipps Gallery, the Founders Building, the Fleischmann Natural Science Building, and the Nunez Building, which served as a preschool. After the purchase of additional acreage, the animal collection was expanded to a Wildlife Florida exhibit with native animals living in large natural habitats. The animal displays include waterfowl, birds of prey, white-tailed deer, wild turkey, red wolf, bobcat, Florida panther, alligator, black bear, fox, skunk, and river otters. An outdoor classroom presents animal and reptile encounters, while a “guest animal” area provides a setting for rotating exhibits. The park now includes displays of metal dinosaur sculptures designed by Jim Gary. By 2013, the museum area exceeded 50 acres.

Like other cultural and historical facilities, the Tallahassee Museum has struggled with funding issues since its founding. In recent years, the museum has added the popular “Tree to Tree Adventure,” which attracts many visitors to a zip line experience over the whole park. Nineteen zip lines and seventy obstacles (such as rope bridges) are arranged in three different adventure courses.

Special Events: A very wide variety of events are scheduled at the museum and visitors may call ahead for details and dates or consult the museum’s updated website.

Main Village Structures

There are two separate areas within the museum grounds devoted to Florida pioneers and history. To the right of the entrance, on the west side of the park, are structures in the Old Florida display: the Seaboard Air Line caboose, Concord schoolhouse, Bethlehem Missionary Baptist Church, and the Bellevue plantation house and slave cabin. To the left (east) of the entrance along a pathway that runs past an outdoor stage, playground, cafe, and picnic tables, is the Big Bend Farm, which contains a farmhouse, kitchen and outbuildings, the B. O. Wood Commissary, and the Shepard’s Mill display.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

The Old Florida displays at the west side have several themes that give insight into many aspects of nineteenth century Florida life, including railroading, African-American social life, and plantation living.

The Seaboard Air Line caboose is open to the public, and panels and artifacts give information about the life and work of railroad brakemen, engineers, and agents.
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At the Tallahassee Museum, this caboose highlights numerous features of railroad history.



The Concord Schoolhouse and Bethlehem Missionary Baptist Church focus on the social life of African-Americans in Northwest Florida, particularly in the period of Reconstruction and the early twentieth century. Panels in the church discuss the role of the black church in providing a focus of community and a platform for black leadership. Information in the schoolhouse focuses on the history of segregated education for African-American children in the decades following the Civil War.

The Bellevue Plantation is the former home of Catherine Murat, the wife and widow of Achille Murat, a nephew of Napoleon Bonaparte. Following the defeat of Napoleon, Achille Murat settled in Florida, first staying in St. Augustine, then moving to Tallahassee. His wife, Catherine Murat, was a great-grandniece of George Washington. The plantation house contains information on cotton plantation life and points out that “Middle Florida”—the counties including Jackson, Gadsden, Leon, Jefferson, and Madison—resembled Alabama in cotton culture and plantation life. Leon County (which includes Tallahassee) led in cotton production in the pre-Civil War years. The small replica slave cabin shows living conditions for slaves in that period.
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The Bellevue Plantation was built by Achille Murat, nephew of Napoleon Bonaparte, and contains displays related to the cotton plantation era.
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The slave cabin to the rear of the plantation house at the Tallahassee Museum gives some idea of slave living conditions.



At the other (east) end of the museum grounds, the B. O. Woods Commissary store gives details of the turpentine and naval stores economy. The displays and panels inside the structure explain the process of harvesting pinesap and distilling it to turpentine. The displays also give rich details on the working and living conditions of the turpentine workers, who could only obtain supplies from company-owned commissaries and thus ran up debts that constantly exceeded their income. Those who attempted to run out on their debts could be arrested and forced to return to work, creating conditions known as “debt peonage.” Materials also explain how “naval stores factors” would extend credit to the turpentine operators, showing how the debt cycle was a central part of the way of life between factor and operator, and operator and worker. Products and displays in the store give some sense of the life of turpentine workers.
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The Woods Commissary tells the story of turpentine workers and the cycle of debt that kept them in virtual peonage.



The Big Bend Farm contains structures from different farms, as well as some built on the spot, to demonstrate the life of pioneer settlers. The displays reflect the Cracker lifestyle, but without the use of that specific term in the panels or literature. The McNair-Black Farmhouse was owned by Permelia A. McNair, who lived from about 1822 to 1890. She occupied the log house in the 1880s in Liberty County. The house passed to Jim Black, who was an orphan that Mrs. McNair had raised. The Langston-Brown detached kitchen was built in Wakulla County by Jim Langston in the 1880s, and then in the 1890s, the property was occupied by John and Jenny Brown and their eight children.

The architecture of the McNair house shows square-log construction, wide porches, and a characteristic detached kitchen.

Other buildings built between 1889 and 1915, including a corncrib, chicken house, barn, potato house, and buggy house, came from the Pitts farm in Calhoun County, owned by Benjamin F. and Frances L. Pitts in the town of Frink. The museum maintains livestock on the farm area, including geese, turkeys, goats, pigs, and a mule. Other displays include a sugarcane mill and syrup kettle, a blacksmith shed, a smokehouse, and an outhouse or privy. The outhouse, blacksmith shed, and smokehouse are reconstructions.
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The McNair-Black farmhouse once housed eight children. Its square-log construction and other features reflect Cracker use of local materials and adaptation to the environment.
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At the Big Bend Farm display, the Pitts barn shows a raised hayloft with attached shelter for wagons.
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The “Buggy House” was built sometime between 1889 and 1915, and was one of the outbuildings on the Pitts farm in the town of Frink, Calhoun County.



Children and adults can gain an impression of the stark lifestyle of Florida pioneers by looking closely at the structures and furnishings and listening to the sounds of the farm. Many urban and suburban children in the contemporary era have never seen or heard living farm livestock, so that experience can be rewarding in itself.
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This buckboard wagon was suited to the sandy Florida roads.



The mill display is a separate display that focuses on the works of a gristmill used for grinding grain and corn and is based on the history of Shepard’s Mill. Shepard’s Mill formerly operated as a living history exhibit directly on Highway 12, about one mile southwest of Exit 174 from I-10.

The mill had been built in 1875 when an unknown builder constructed a dam there across Telogia Creek, and a one-room water-powered gristmill. The mill became a social center and landmark for much of the surrounding area. A sawmill and cotton gin were added between 1877 and 1894. Through the 1990s, the mill continued to offer displays of milling and sale of locally-milled cornmeal. Although the mill can be seen immediately on the east side of Highway 12, there is no parking and the current owners do not maintain the site as a public facility.

At the Tallahassee Museum, a small display with panels explains the workings of a typical gristmill.


CHAPTER NINETEEN

Panhandle Pioneer Settlement

Location: 17869 NW Pioneer Settlement Road, Blountstown

Driving Directions: From I-10, take Exit 174, turn west on Highway 12 about 30 miles; at the intersection with Highway 20, turn right about six miles into Blountstown. Go through Blountstown to Silas Green Street on the right (opposite 19th Street); turn right and follow signs to Panhandle Pioneer Settlement parking area.

Hours of Operation: Tuesdays, Thursdays, Fridays, Saturdays 10 A.M. to 2 P.M. (Central Time) or by appointment. Tours by appointment are recommended.

Fees: No charge, but contributions accepted

Phone: (850) 674-2777

Things to See Nearby: The Panhandle Pioneer Settlement is off the beaten track and is about fifty miles west of Tallahassee. The Tallahassee Museum is the nearest pioneer site.

History of the Site

The Panhandle Pioneer Settlement was founded by Willard Smith and his wife Linda in 1989 to provide a setting for the preservation and presentation of the pioneer way of life from the 1840s to the 1940s. Smith had visited the Tallahassee Museum and seen the display there of some of his own grandfather’s farm buildings (those once owned by Benjamin and Frances Pitts), inspiring him to develop a display that would preserve and present the local pioneer heritage. With grants from the Florida State Bureau of Natural Resources and the Department of Historical Resources, he developed the Blountstown site and had buildings moved from locations around Calhoun County. The Panhandle Pioneer Settlement is on forty-seven acres of land leased from the county, and consists of more than eighteen buildings and outbuildings moved to or constructed on site.

Special Events



	January:

	Third Saturday. Hog butchering




	February:

	First Saturday. Classical desserts Third Saturday. Sacred harp sing




	March:

	Second Saturday and following week. Rummage sale




	
	Third week. Panhandle folk life days




	April:

	Last Saturday. Custom knife show and sale




	May:

	First Saturday. Quilt show Second Friday. Bat night




	August:

	Fourth Friday. Ice-cream social




	September:

	Second Saturday. Archaeology day Last Saturday. Peanut boil




	October:

	Third Saturday. Pioneer day




	November:

	Second Saturday. Craft day Saturday before Thanksgiving. Antique show Saturday after Thanksgiving: Sugarcane making




	December:

	Celebration following Blountstown Christmas parade





Times for the events vary and visitors should call ahead to confirm date and times. At the larger events such as the Folk Life Day, 60–70 volunteer docents stationed in each room describe materials and conduct demonstrations.

Main Structures

The main group of settlement buildings is arranged around a central lawn. To the right of the parking area at the entrance is the Club/House and Log Cabin, which is available for weddings, family reunions, and other large gatherings.

Yon House. In the center of the five-acre open lawn space is this wooden frame dogtrot farmhouse built in 1897 with an attached kitchen and dining building, together with a nearby milk shed. The building was donated by Emily Yon and her sons Jimmy and J. W. Yon, and it was the first structure donated to the settlement.

Proceeding counter-clockwise around the central space from the entry gate are the other buildings:

Shiloh School. Built before 1897, the school was originally located in the southeast section of Calhoun County, about a mile from the Yon house. Grades 1 to 3 were taught in one room, grades 4 to 6 in the other. After a new school replaced this one, the Yon family moved the unused school building to their property to use as a barn and for storage of farm equipment. The Yon family later donated the school to the Settlement.
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Grades 1–3 were in one school room, grades 4–6 in the other. Two or three pupils sat at each desk.



The two-room school is now fitted out and well maintained to demonstrate how schools were arranged in the late 1800s—with slates, a painted section of the wall for use as a blackboard, and other details. The turn-of-the century artifacts and furnishings include some replicas.
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This two-room school was converted to a barn, then later donated to the Settlement.



Red Oak Methodist Church. This church was built in 1941 at Red Oak under the leadership of Reverend Ager C. Moore, a veteran of World War I. The land, hardware, and most of the labor were all contributed. Gradually, as the local population dwindled in the years after World War II, the church fell into disuse. It was briefly used by Mennonites who had moved to the area. After the church changed hands, the Methodist Association donated the building to the settlement. Near the school and the church, the Pleasant Rest Cemetery displays some shell-covered graves, a rare type of grave marker found in Florida.
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Shell-covered graves were found in early Florida cemeteries.



Sexton Cabin. The F.B.Sexton Cabin was built in 1872 and is a good example of a one-room Cracker cabin, with mud-and-stick fireplace. It was donated by F.B.’s grandson, Cecil F. Sexton.
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Among the displays at the Panhandle Pioneer Settlement is this homesteader’s one-room cabin.



Firehouse. A replica building built on site, this structure currently houses an antique automobile and fire engine.

McClellan House. Built about 1900, this building originally stood at the present site of the McDonalds Restaurant in Blountstown. In 1952, the house was sold and moved to the corner of Oak and Maple Streets. The building was moved to the settlement in 1995, with plans for it to eventually serve as a residence for the settlement caretaker.

Grist Mill. This small replica structure is used to demonstrate grinding of corn.

Blacksmith Shop. This building was built on site by the Florida Artist Blacksmith Association in 1990–91. Willard Smith, the founder of the settlement, is the former president of the Florida Artist Blacksmith Association. The shop has been furnished with tools and classes are held there.

Cobbler Shop. The small shop is used to display the cobbler’s craft as well as goods typically sold in a nineteenth-century general store.

Chason Log Home. This structure was built by William Byrd, a pioneer who obtained an eighty-acre homestead from the U.S. government in the 1820s on the Chipola River in north Calhoun County. He modeled the cabin on those he had seen in Virginia, using hand-hewn logs with sophisticated joinery at the corners. He hand-sawed limestone blocks from the banks of the Chipola River to construct the fireplace and 24-foot chimney. William’s son, John Armstrong Byrd, and his wife Sarah took over the cabin, and it passed to their daughter Lucy Byrd. She married John D. Chason and that family added a separate kitchen to the rear of the central dogtrot breezeway. According to family legend, each generation of the family told their descendants, “Don’t let the old place rot down.” So the descendants of Lucy Byrd Chason decided to donate the cabin to the Pioneer Settlement for preservation.

Bailey Log Home. This structure may date as early as 1860, because it originally had a stick and mud chimney. In 1910, David Samuel Bailey Jr. and his wife Clara Belle moved into the small peeled-log home. Bill and Myrlene Brantley, descendants of the Baileys, donated the cabin to the settlement in 1992, the next building after the Yon House to arrive at the settlement.
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Built about 1860 of peeled round logs, the Bailey House has deep front and rear porches.



Wells’ Log Home and Smoke House. This 1846 log building was built of hand-hewn square logs by Henry Hamilton Wells near Gap Pond. Henry and his wife Catherine had twelve children and lived in the cabin for over fifty years. The property was eventually bought by Ms. Aleene Sinclair Franz, an art teacher and former employee of the architect Frank Lloyd Wright. She rehabilitated the cabin and gave it as a hunting lodge to her son Dr. Sinclair Franz. However, because of the isolation of the cabin, it was in danger from vandals and fire, so Ms. Franz and her son donated the cabin to the settlement. The survival of this building for more than 150 years is testimony to the workmanship of its split and squared logs, expert joinery, and solid construction.
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Originally built about 1846, the Wells home was expanded as children were born.
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As the Wells family expanded, the girls got a separate bedroom and the boys slept on the porches.



Dr. Dowling’s Office. Dr. J.B. Dowling practiced medicine in this building for more than fifty years, delivering over four thousand babies. The walls display his original diplomas and certificates, and the office furnishings are typical of early twentieth-century rural doctors’ offices.

Post Office and General Store. Built in 1941 by Riley Hill, the building served as both the general store and post office for Clarksville on Highway 20 until 1970, when the owner closed the store but continued the post office operation until 1986. George Riley, the son of the builder, and Sara Riley, of Atlanta, Georgia, donated the building to the settlement in 1995. These days, the shop carries snacks and handicrafts. A display of postal mailboxes is from the town of Kinard, Florida, in southwestern Calhoun County.

Altha Calaboose. This small concrete jail was built in 1927 for the town of Altha by two workers, Haywood Baggett and Miles Richards. Less than a year after they finished it, they were both arrested for trading horses without a license, and they were the first prisoners held in the jail they had built! They later sued and won a judgment of $1 million against the town of Altha, which of course, the small community could never pay. Volunteers and staff at the settlement tell this and other stories of the small jailhouse.

Frink Gymnasium. Built in 1942, the Frink High School gym was partially built by the school’s basketball team. The school closed in June 1961. With donations and a portion of a grant, the school gym was purchased, sawn in half, and moved to the settlement in 1995.

Farmstead. A short walk from the settlement grounds into the woods takes visitors to another log cabin and a reconstructed syrup house. These buildings were built using traditional methods, with no nails or screws, but wooden pegs. The syrup house is used during the November Sugarcane Syrup-Making Day held after Thanksgiving to produce syrup from locally grown sugarcane.

Daily Life through Structures and Artifacts

Classes. The settlement presents classes throughout the year teaching pioneer skills. Small tuition charges defray the cost of materials. Classes are held in Blacksmithing, Basket Weaving, Fireplace Cookery, Jelly and Jam Making, Pine-needle Basket Weaving, Quilting, Syrup Making, and Woodstove Cookery. Call for details, tuition charges, and times.

Scout encampments. Boy and Girl Scout groups arrange encampments at the settlement, and a wide variety of activities are offered at the encampments, including some of the classes noted above as well as the following:

Bat observing and educational information; bird study; fire pit procedures; fishing; identification of garden plants; honey bee hive demonstration and lesson; hoe cake making and history; nighttime spider catching and identification; night trail hiking with special markers; rope-tying/knots demonstration; short hikes/trail hiking; tour of cane field and syrup house; tree identification; and woodcarving.

Displays. The carefully maintained displays are best viewed on arranged guided tours or during scheduled festival events, as the buildings are kept locked at other times. The many artifacts inside the buildings include authentic period furnishings in the several homes, school equipment in the Sexton School, and medical equipment in Dr. Dowling’s Office. Displays of goods in the Cobbler Shop give a view of the types of products sold in country stores more than a century ago. The details of construction of the original log homes and cabins, including the log joinery, fireplaces, and window treatments, demonstrate the skill and workmanship of the volunteer and self-taught builders of more than a century ago.


MUSEUMS

There are over three hundred museums in Florida, ranging from very small local history collections through specialized art, historical, and natural history museums. As noted in the chapters above, many of the villages contain museums, and an excellent museum of the pioneer heritage is found in the town of Micanopy. Two that are not discussed above have excellent collections that focus on the Florida pioneer heritage.

Orange County Regional History Center

65 East Central Boulevard, Orlando

Phone: (407) 836-8500 or (800) 965-2030

Hours: Monday–Saturday, 10 A.M. –5 P.M; Sunday, Noon–5 P.M.

Collections: Among other exhibits pertinent to pioneer life, the museum has a unique permanent exhibit consisting of an indoor replica of a complete Cracker log cabin furnished with period artifacts, including a moss-filled mattress. Other exhibits in this museum have pioneer themes, including the citrus and timber industries as well as early railroading.

Cattle Trail Museum

2822 Museum Drive, Zolfo Springs

Phone (863) 735-0119

Hours: Monday–Friday 9 A.M.–5 P.M.

Collections. The Cracker Trail Museum contains a replica Cracker log cabin built in 1967. The museum building contains more than 4,000 items related to pioneer history, probably the largest such collection in the state.
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Cracker Village Websites

This listing provides the official Internet sites for the villages and locations visited, accessed as of early 2015. Although tourist and civic organizations and some commercial operations provide additional Internet sites regarding many of the locales, the Internet sites listed below are those developed by the villages and parks themselves. In some cases, the detailed information regarding the Cracker or pioneer exhibits is at a link found within the homepage listed below.

Barberville Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts

http://www.pioneersettlement.org/

Crowley Museum and Nature Center

http://crowleyfl.org/

Dudley Farm

http://www.floridastateparks.org/DudleyFarm/

Florida Agricultural Museum

http://www.myagmuseum.com/

Forest Capital State Park

http://www.floridastateparks.org/forestcapital/

Fort Christmas Historical Park

http://www.nbbd.com/godo/FortChristmas/

Homeland Heritage Park

http://www.polkcounty.net/subpage.aspx?menu_id=52&id=948

Kissimmee: Osceola County Pioneer Village

http://osceolahistory.org/ochs1213/

Kissimmee Cow Camp

http://www.floridastateparks.org/lakekissimmee/

Largo Pioneer Village

http://www.pinellascounty.org/heritage/

Manatee Village

http://www.manateeclerk.com/historical/ManateeVillage.aspx

Micanopy (town website)

http://welcometomicanopy.com/

Panhandle Pioneer Settlement, Blountstown

http://www.panhandlepioneer.org/

Pioneer Florida Museum and Village, Dade City

http://www.pioneerfloridamuseum.org/

Rawlings House

http://www.floridastateparks.org/marjoriekinnanrawlings/

Silver River State Park

http://www.floridastateparks.org/silverriver/

State Fair Cracker Country

http://www.crackercountry.org/

Tallahassee Museum

http://tallahasseemuseum.org/

Wood & Swink Store (Facebook link)

https://www.facebook.com/pages/The-Wood-and-Swink-Preservation-Society/168124363234947?v=info
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Adams, Cal

African-Americans

Agee, James

Alachua County

Alafia River Rendezvous

Alahuzos, Drosos

Altha Calaboose

American Coastal Line

American Lafrance fire engine

American Optical Company

Anclute, Florida

Axline, Clyde C.

Arbritten family

Arcadia

Armed Occupation Act

Army Corps of Engineers

Arredondo Land Grant (map)

Artifact and fossil show

Astor Bridge House

Astor, John Jacob

Atlantic Coast Line

B. O. Wood Commissary

Bailey log home

Bailey, Bill and Myrlene

Baldwin Locomotive Works

Barberville Central High School

Bartram, John James

Baskin, Norman

Beehead Ranch House

Beggett, Haywood

Bellevue Plantation

Bethel Academy

Bethel, (town of)

Bethlehem Missionary Baptist Church

Bicentennial (1976)

Big Bend farm

Bithlo Sawmill

Black, Jim

Bluegrass Festival and Craft Fair

boat-building

boll weevils

Bonaparte, Napoleon

Book of the Month Club

Boyer Cottage

Boyer, Joshua

Bradenton courthouse (at Manatee Village)

Bradenton Kiwanis Club

Bradenton

Bradley, Sallie Gullett

Brice, W. R.

Brown House

Brown, John and Jenny

Bunker Hill, FL

Busch Gardens

Buster Island

Buster, Billy

Byrd, John Armstrong

Byrd, William

C.C. Smith General Store

Cabbage Head Engine

Cadman Citrus Packing House

Cadman, Lt. Col. William

Caldwell Dairy Barn

Caldwell, Millard Fillmore

Calhoun County

Callahan

Camp Kiwanis (Ocala National Forest)

Canada family

Canada, Polly

Carlton House

Carlton, Albert and Martha (McEwan)

Carlton, Doyle E.

Carlton, Mildred W.

Carlton, T. Mabry

Carriage House (at Pioneer Settlement)

Carter, Norm

Cason, Zelma

Castalia School

cattle and cattle industry

Cattle Trail Museum, Zolfo Springs

Chason Log Home

Chason, John D.

Chason, Lucy Byrd

chickee

chicken coop or house

Children’s programs (at Pioneer Settlement)

Chiles, Lawton

Chipola River

Cholokka Boulevard, Micanopy

citrus industry

citrus box labels

Civil War

Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC)

Clark, Henry S.

Clarksville, FL

Classic Cracker

clay (or mud) and stick fireplace

Clearwater Optimist Club

Clearwater

Club House/Log Cabin (Panhandle Pioneer)

Coachman, Solomon and Jessie

cobbler shop

Colonial Williamsburg

company store or commissary

Concord schoolhouse

Confederate Army

Conner, Doyle

cotton

cow camp

Cowboy Reunion

cow-hunting

Cracker (as term)

Cracker architecture

Cracker cattle

“Cracker Chidlings,” (short story)

Cracker Christmas

Cracker Country, State Fairgrounds

Cracker cow camp

Cracker cowboys

Cracker dogs

Cracker horses (marsh tackies)

Cracker log cabin (replica)

Cracker storytelling

Crescent Beach

Cross Creek Cookery

Cross Creek

Crowley Folk School

Crowley Museum and Nature Park

Crowley, Gus

Crowley, James Jeremiah

Crowley, John

Crowley, W. Jasper

Cuba

Cubalaya fighting cock

Cummer Building

Cummer Lumber Company steam engine

Cummer Lumber Company

Cumpressco Post Office

Dade City

dairy industry

debt peonage

DeSoto County

DeLeon Springs

Dexter clothes washer

Disney World

Disston, Hamilton

Dowling, Dr. J.B.

Dudley Farm

Dudley farmhouse

Dudley general store

Dudley sweet potato cellar

Dudley tobacco barn

Dudley, Fannie

Dudley, Myrtle

Dudley, P.B.H., (Sr. and Jr.)

Dudley, Winnie

Eagle Rock Equestrian Club Ride

Edna Truchet Learning Center

English Log Cabin

English, Cornelius and James

Enterprise Methodist Church

Equestrian Summer Camp (Florida

Agricultural Museum)

Espanola, FL

Evans, Walker

Evins family

Evins, Robert

Evinston, FL

Farm City Day (Pinellas)

Farmall Cub Tractor

Fell, E. Nelson

Fiddia, Piety and Leonard

First South Carolina Rifles

Fitzgerald, F. Scott

Fleischer Natural Science Building

Florida Agricultural Museum

Florida Artist Blacksmith Association

Florida Audubon Society

Florida Black Bear Scenic Byway

Florida Botanical Garden

Florida Bureau of Natural Resources

Florida Cracker Christmas (Manatee)

Florida Cracker Trail

Florida Department of State, Division of

Historical Resources

Florida Division of Agricultural and

Consumer Services

Florida Frontiersmen

Florida Gulf Coast Center for Fishing and

Interactive Museum

Florida Old Time Music Championships

Florida Southern Railroad

Florida State Bureau of Environmental

Protection

Florida State Fourth Grade Curriculum

Fogarty, Bat

Fogarty, John, William, and Bartholemew

(“Tole”)

Forest Capital State Park and Cracker

Homestead

Forest Industry Museum

Fort Christmas (as fort)

Fort Christmas fort storeroom

Fort Christmas Historical Park

Fort Christmas Historical Society

Fort Christmas Post Office

Fort Meade

Fort Pierce

Founders Building (Tallahassee Museum)

Franz, Alene Sinclair

Franz, Dr. Sinclair

Frink Gym

Frostproof, FL

Fuqua, Don

Gadsden County

Gaines, Willa Mae

Garfield, Peter

Gary, Jim

Gates, Josiah

general stores and post offices

Gibson, Pete

Gillette, Benjamin David

Glisson, J.T.

Godwin House

Godwin, Freeman

Governor’s Inn

Grant, Governor James

Great Depression

Greek spongers

Greenwood House

Gretna Church

Greyhound bus

gristmill

Grover C. King (fishing boat)

Gullett, Benjamin David

Guthrie, Woody

H. C. Smith Store

H.L. Wynn Commissary

Haase, Ronald

Hahn fire engine

Hampton, General Wade

Hardee County

Harrell, Bunk

Harris School

Harrison, H. Wildes

Harwood Plantation

Hawthorne, Nathaniel

Hayden, Harvey E.

Hayden, Thomas G.

Hemingway, Ernest

Heritage of Manatee Environment

(“HOME”)

Heritage Village, Largo

Heritage Days Open House (Manatee)

Herty cup

Herty, Dr. Charles

Hewitt Sawmill

Hewitt, John

Hill, Riley

Hillsborough County

Hinton House

Hinton, Jim

Hinton, W. J. (Beau)

Hodge barn

Hodge, Cordia Thomas

Homeland Heritage Park

Homeland Methodist Church

Homeland School

Homestead Cabin (at Crowley Museum)

House of Seven Gables (Pinellas)

Hummingbird Festival

Huntington Post Office

Hurston, Zora Neale

International Mineral Corporation

International Sailing Federation

ironware (kitchen)

J. R. Terry Store

Jackson County

“Jacob’s Ladder,” (short story)

Jefferson County

Jennings, Ed

Jim Hinton Home

John Deere Tractor

John Overstreet House

Joseph Underhill House

Kentucky

Key West

Kinard, FL

Kissimmee Cow Camp

Knight, Charlie

Kumquat Shop

Lacoochee community

Lacoochee School House

Lake Kissimmee Cow Camp

Lake Kissimmee

Lake Tohopekaliga

Lange, Dorothea

Langston, Jim

Langston-Brown kitchen

Lanier House

Largo Truck Growers’ Association

Largo

Larkin, Emily

Larkin, William

Lassie Cake

Leon County

Lewis Log Cabin

Lewis, Jim

Lilly, FL

Log cabin packinghouse (Micanopy)

Louisville Courier Journal

Lowe House and barn

lumber industry

Lykes Packing Company

Mabel Jordan Barn

MacLeod, Sally Caldwell

Madeira Beach

Madison County

Manassas, Second Battle of

Manatee Burying Ground

Manatee City History Day

Manatee County Historical Commission

Manatee County

Manatee County

Manatee Noccatee Crate Mill Company

Manatee River

Manatee United Methodist Church

Manatee Village

Marchant Commissary

Marchant, Owen

Marshall Plantation

Marshall Swamp

Marshall, Elizabeth Anne De Brull

Marshall, Jehu Foster

Marwick, Guy

May, Vance

McAteer, Fred

McClellan House

McClellan saddle

McCord, Fred

McDougald, Ann

McGuffey Reader

McMillan House

McMullen House

McMullen, Daniel

McMullen, James and Elizabeth

McNair, Permelia

McNair-Black Farmhouse

McNeil and McKay Wharf, Bradenton

medical equipment (antique)

Merry, Calvin

Micanopy (town)

Micanopy Museum

Middle Florida

Midway Methodist Church

Militia Encampments

Mills, Clark

model train show

Moore House

Moore, Rev. Ager C.

Morse Code

Murat, Achille

Murat, Catherine

Murphy, Henry G.

Museum Day Live

Museum of Agriculture and Rural History of

the State of Florida

Myakka area

Myakka Audubon Society

Myakka City

Narcoosee

National History Day

naval stores

Nelson, Robert

New Smyrna Beach

North Florida Folk Festival

Nunez Building

Oak Hill

Ocala Home Guard

Ocklawaha River

O’Henry Prize

Okahumpa Train Depot

Old Cabbage Head Engine

Old Dixie Highway

Old Sturbridge Village

Ona, FL

Oneco, FL

Optimist Club

Orange Belt Railroad

Orange County Parks and Recreation

Department

Orange County Regional History Center

Orange County

Orlando

Ormond, Mary

Osceola County Historical Society Pioneer

Village

Osteen, FL

paha

Palmetto Regiment

Panhandle Pioneer Settlement

Paris, France

Parker, Idella

Partin House

Partin, Dixie

Partin, Emma

Pasco County

Pasco Packing Company

Pastime touring boat

Patriot War

Peace Creek, FL

Peace River

Peck, Gregory

Pellicer Creek

Perkins, Maxwell

Phipps Gallery

phosphate mining

Pierson Railroad Depot

Pine Level Trail and Road

Pine Level

Pinellas County Historical Society

Pinellas Folk Festival

pioneer cooking utensils

Pioneer Florida Museum and Village, Dade City

Pioneer Settlement for the Creative Arts

pioneer skill classes

Pioneer Village at Shingle Creek

Pisatro, Angela

Pitts Farm

Pitts, Benjamin F.

Pitts, Frances L.

Plant City

Plant-Sumner House

Pleasant Rest Cemetery

pole barn

Polk County Board of County

Commissioners

Polk County

Ponce de Leon

post office; see also Wood and Swink Store

Potter, Rodney

Pram (boat)

Punta Gorda

Punta Rassa

Quarters House (at Pioneer Settlement)

quilt show

Race Track, Arcadia, California

railroading

Rainey Building

Rainey, Reid and Gussie

Randolph, Paul

Raulerson House

Raulerson, Daniel Amos

Raulerson, J.D.

Rawlings, Charles

Rawlings, Marjorie K., (home of)

Rawls, Laura

Red Oak Methodist Church

Redditt family

Remington, Frederick

Reta Canada Barnes Resource Library

Rhode, Annie

Rhode, Rudolph

Richards, Miles

Riley, George

Riley, Sara

Ripley’s Believe It or Not Odditorium

Roberts, Julia

Rochester Journal

Rockefeller, John D.

Rodney B. Cox Elementary School

Rosalie Creek

Roseville pottery

Ross, Louella

Rural Electrification Administration

sad irons

Safety Harbor Church

Safford Memorial Pavilion

school

school bus

Scribners

Sea World

Seabiscuit (statue of)

Seaboard Air-Line caboose

Seaboard Coast Line

Second Seminole War

Seeger, Pete

Seminole village replica

Seminole War

Seminoles

Sexton, Cecil F.

Sexton, F.H. (cabin of)

Shepard’s Mill

Shiloh School

Shingle Creek site

Silver River State Park Cracker Village

Silver Springs School

Simmons House

Simmons House

Simmons, George Washington

Simmons House

Simonton-Herlong House

Skirmish at Chipco

Smith, Daniel H. and Elizabeth Geiger

Smith, Linda

Smith, Mick

Smith, Willard

Smith, Willie

Snoddy, Col. John

South Moon Under

Spanish hog

Speaking of History (lecture series)

sponge industry

Sponge Warehouse (Pinellas)

St. Augustine

St. Cloud & Sugar Belt Railway

St. Johns River

St. Petersburg

Ste. Claire, Dana

Stephens House (“settler’s house”)

Steward-Merry House

Stewart, Dr. James

Stowe, Harriet Beecher

Strawn, Theodore

sugar cane mill

sugar cane milling and sugar rendering

Sulphur Springs rail depot

Summer Day Camp at Florida Agricultural Museum

summer iron

Tallahassee Junior Museum

Tallahassee Museum

Tarpon Springs

Tater Hill

Tatum House

Tatum Ridge Schoolhouse

Tatum Sawgrass

Tatum, William H.

Tatum-Rawls House

Taylor County Lumber Company

Taylor County

Taylor Creek

telegraph

telephone display

Telogia Creek

Terry, Jack Roundtree

Terry, Jimmy and Billy

The House of the Seven Gables (novel)

Theodore Strawn Citrus Company

Thrasher Warehouse

Tiger Creek

Tiger Lake

Timucuan-Myaccan and Seminole Village

Tin-can tourists

tobacco production

Tomoka Land Company

Tomoka Turpentine Still

Tosohatchee State Reserve

tractor-pull

Traxler (town of)

Traxler Commissary

Traxler, William H.

Tree Capital of the South

Trilby Depot

Truchet, Edna

Tucker family

Turnbull, Dr. Andrew

turpentine industry

Tyson House

Tyson, C.J.

Union School (Fort Christmas School)

University of Florida

vegetable garden

Wauchula, FL

Wakulla County

Walsingham, Jesse

Warden’s Castle

Wells Log Home

Wells, Albert B.

Wells, Blanche L.

Wells, Henry Hamilton

West Newberry

Wheeler, James Hughlette (sculptor)

Wheeler, Jim

Wheeler-Bass House

Whidden-Clark Homestead

Whiddon House

Whiddon, Wiley W.

Wiggins, King

Wiggins Store

Williams Park Bandstand

Wills, Chill

Wilson, Pat

Wood and Swink Store and Post Office

Wood, Fred

Wood, Freddy

Wood, H.D.

Wood, Wilma Sue

Woods House

Woods, Thomas Jefferson

Works Progress Administration (WPA)

Wright, Frank Lloyd

Wyman, Jane

Yates House

Yates, John Burl (Bud)

Yearling, The

Yon House

Yon, Emily

Yon, J.W.

Yon, Jimmy

Zipperer, William

Zolfo Springs


Here are some other books from Pineapple Press on related topics. For a complete catalog, write to Pineapple Press, P.O. Box 3889, Sarasota, Florida 34230-3889, or call (800) 746-3275. Or visit our website at www.pineapplepress.com.

Historical Traveler’s Guide to Florida, Second Edition, by Eliot Kleinberg. From Fort Pickens in the Panhandle to Fort Jefferson in the ocean 40 miles beyond Key West, historical travelers will find many adventures waiting for them in Florida.

Time Traveler’s Guide to Florida by Jack Powell. A unique guidebook that describes 70 places and reenactments in Florida where you can experience the past—and a few where you can time-travel into the future.

200 Quick Looks at Florida History by James Clark. Here are 200 short essays on Florida’s 10,000 years of history, from the arrival of the first natives to the present. Packed with unusual and little-known facts and stories.

Historic Homes of Florida, Second Edition, by Laura Stewart and Susanne Hupp. Houses tell the human side of history. In this survey of restored residences, their stories are intertwined with those of their owners in a domestic history of Florida. Most of these houses are museums now; others are restaurants or bed-and-breakfasts. Illustrated with color photographs.

Florida’s Finest Inns and Bed & Breakfasts, Second Edition, by Bruce Hunt. From warm and cozy bed-and-breakfasts to elegant and historic hotels, this is the definitive guide to Florida’s most quaint, romantic, and often eclectic lodgings. With photos and charming pen-and-ink drawings by the author.

Visiting Small-Town Florida, Third Edition, by Bruce Hunt. From Carrabelle to Bokeelia, Two Egg to Fernandina, these out-of-the-way but fascinating destinations are well worth a side trip or weekend excursion.

Best Backroads of Florida by Douglas Waitley. Each volume in this series offers several well-planned day trips through some of Florida’s least-known towns and well-traveled byways. You will glimpse a gentler Florida and learn a lot about its history. Volume 1: The Heartland (south of Jacksonville to north of Tampa); Volume 2: Coasts, Glades, and Groves (south Florida); Volume 3: Beaches and Hills (north and northwest Florida).

Florida History from the Highways by Douglas Waitley. Journey along Florida’s major highways and learn all of the roadside history on the way. Begins with a brief history of Florida.

Florida’s Museums and Cultural Attractions, Second Edition, by Doris Bardon and Murray D. Laurie. This newly updated guide has a destination to suit every interest. You’ll find more than 350 museums and attractions to choose from.

Discovering the Civil War in Florida: A Reader and Guide, Second Edition, by Paul Taylor. Includes excerpts from official government reports by officers on both sides, as well as firsthand reports of the destruction soldiers brought to Florida’s towns. Chronicles both land and sea maneuvers.

Florida Place Names by Allen Morris. Learn the origin and meaning of the name of every county and most incorporated cities in Florida. From Alachua (from the Seminole for “jug”) to Zolfo Springs (from the Italian for “sulfur”), Florida Place Names delights and educates with a rich and varied offering of Florida lore.

CRACKER WESTERNS

Alligator Gold by Janet Schrader. On his way home at the end of the Civil War, Caleb Hawkins is focused on getting back to his Florida cattle ranch. But along the way, Hawk encounters a very pregnant Madelaine Wilkes and learns that his only son has gone missing and that his old nemesis, Snake Barber, has taken over his ranch.

Bridger’s Run by Jon Wilson. Tom Bridger has come to Florida in 1885 to find his long-lost uncle and a hidden treasure. It all comes down to a boxing match between Tom and the Key West Slasher.

Ghosts of the Green Swamp by Lee Gramling. Saddle up your easy chair and kick back for a Cracker Western featuring that rough-and-ready but soft-hearted Florida cowboy, Tate Barkley, introduced in Riders of the Suwannee.

Guns of the Palmetto Plains by Rick Tonyan. As the Civil War explodes over Florida, Tree Hooker dodges Union soldiers and Florida outlaws to drive cattle to feed the starving Confederacy.

Ninety-Mile Prairie by Lee Gramling. While Peek Tillman herds cattle to market, he has to be on the lookout for wild beasts and reptiles—as well as predators of the human variety. He encounters more than he can figure how to handle when he meets the beautiful Miranda Westfield, her archaeologist husband, and some greedy outlaws bent on taking advantage of them.

Riders of the Suwannee by Lee Gramling. Tate Barkley returns to 1870s Florida just in time to come to the aid of a young widow and her children as they fight to save their homestead from outlaws.

Thunder on the St. Johns by Lee Gramling. Riverboat gambler Chance Ramsay teams up with the family of young Josh Carpenter and the trapper’s daughter Abby Macklin to combat a slew of greedy outlaws seeking to destroy the dreams of honest homesteaders.

Trail from St. Augustine by Lee Gramling. A young trapper, a crusty ex-sailor, and an indentured servant girl fleeing a cruel master join forces to cross the Florida wilderness in search of buried treasure and a new life.

Wiregrass Country by Herb and Muncy Chapman. Set in 1835, this historical novel will transport you to a time when Florida settlers were few and laws were scarce. Meet the Dovers, a family of homesteaders determined to survive against all odds and triumph against the daily struggles that accompany running a cattle ranch.
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